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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM?”)
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “EXCHANGE?”)
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GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater
risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the
contents of this report, makes no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Sau San
Tong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors
of the Company, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive; (2) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
in this report misleading.
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CORPORATE PROFILE Q8§

Founded in July 2000, Sau San Tong Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) have established itself as the leading
beauty and slimming services providers in Hong Kong and
Mainland China over the past decade through the introduction of
a series of innovative health and beauty treatment and products
as well as the provision of the most professional and superior
slimming and trimming solution to its customers. The Group was
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 8200) in November 2003 and is
the first listed slimming and beauty company in Hong Kong.

The Group has nine slimming and beauty centres with three in
Hong Kong and six in Mainland China including two in Beijing,
two in Shanghai, one in Shenzhen and one in Hangzhou. All these
centers provide unique all-rounded personalized slimming and
beauty services, medical cosmetological treatments, anti-aging
treatment programs, etc.. Combining the effective treatments and
comprehensive follow up, all programmes enable customers to
achieve their desired skin quality, weight and body shape in the
healthiest manner.

The Group has been widely recognized and highly praised for
its outstanding products and services and received numerous
accolades during the years of which included “Body Specialist”
by Marie Claire Magazine, “The Most Popular Slimming Treatment
Award” by ReadyGo Magazine and honor to be the “Caring
Company” for four consecutive years.

To further diversify its businesses, the Group has acquired a
distribution business in Mainland China in 2005 who distributes
P&G’s personal care products in Shanghai and cosmetic and skin
care products with famous brands like SK-Il and Olay in the eastern
and western part of Mainland China. With years of development,
the distribution network is well developed and with the additions of
international famous brands, the growth of turnover as well as the
number of distribution points is impressive.
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In June 2010, the Group appointed a consultant to develop the
Group’s franchise co-operation business in Mainland China.

With the existing slimming and beauty business, product
distribution business and the newly franchise co-operation
business, the Group is well-equipped to provide the first-in-class
services to our customers.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY T F B iS5 =

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—E——fF —E-FF ZETNEF —ETENF —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Turnover ] 627,537 470,725 437,916 446,821 443,588
Cost of sales HERA (536,634) (889,0006) (859,450) (344,809) (348,164)
Gross profit ER 90,903 81,719 78,466 102,012 95,424
Other revenue and net Haples R
income et 1,180 2,171 1,237 4,727 7,408
Selling and distribution SHE R DR A
costs (67,066) (61,211) (63,081) (63,491) (65,370)
General and administrative —# &1TE R X
expenses (68,727) (50,957) (45,186) (39,115) (45,505)
Other operating expenses ~ H &4 % - - - - (7)
(Loss)/profit from cg(ER) 2R
operations (43,710) (28,278) (28,564) 4,133 (8,050)
Finance costs A A (1,337) (1,248) (1,579) (941) (666)
Share of (losses)/profits JE il L B
of jointly controlled BERAMN/
entities (E#) (483) 2,858 (3,277) - -
(Loss)/profit before MEBLAT(ER)
taxation 25 (45,530) (26,668) (33,420) 3,192 (8,716)
Income tax expense TSRS (2,503) (2,154) (1,039) (1,353) (7,231)
(Loss)/profit for the year &R (EE), B (48,033) (28,822) (34,459) 1,839 (15,947)
Non-current assets ERBEE 33,809 27,019 29,364 22,987 20,228
Current assets REBEE 193,553 127,223 117,669 144,496 88,265
Current liabilities REEE (92,829) (75,084) (88,484) (77,443) (82,553)
Net current assets REEEFH 100,724 52,139 29,185 67,053 5,712
Non-current liabilities kREBEE (23,127) (3,380) (3,563) (3,041) (232)
Net assets EEFHE 111,406 75,778 54,986 86,999 25,708
Capital and reserves BARRHE
Equity attributable
to owners of the E/NSIEZ SN
Company LR 91,774 55,765 31,108 58,141 9,072
Non-controlling FEE ikt
interests WL 19,632 20,013 23,878 28,858 16,636
Total equity A 111,406 75,778 54,986 86,999 25,708
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| hereby present the annual report to the shareholders of Sau
San Tong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2011 (the “Year Under Review”) on behalf of the board of
Directors.

In the Year Under Review, local demand in Mainland China grew
rapidly and the Hong Kong economy showed slight improvement.
However, the approach of inflation reduce customer desire to
consume. With the local banks lack of faith in the beauty and
slimming industry, banks tighten the credit policy on a one-shot
basis and terminate certain cooperations. Certain banks even
retain a portion of sales revenue as collaterals which in turns
burden the financial pressure on the industry and weaken the
cash flow; making a few companies hard to operate and resulting
in business closure. Consumers’ confidence in the slimming and
beauty industry is further challenged.

However, even though in such a difficult business environment, the
turnover still has a satisfactory growth of 33% from approximately
HK$470,725,000 in the corresponding period in last year to
approximately HK$627,537,000 in the Year Under Review. The
increase is mainly contributed from the distribution of products.

In December 2010, the Company successfully completed the right
issue of raising net proceeds of approximately HK$52,000,000.
The response from market is so intense, during the 2 weeks of
the application period, we received not only 665 valid applications
subscribing for over 158 million Right Shares, but also received
more than 500 valid applications subscribing for over 3 billion
Right Shares in excess, representing more than 150 times of the
Right Shares for excess applications. Together with the open offer
completed in 2009, these two encouraging results reflected the
shareholders of the Company and the public are highly confident
with the Group future prospects.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE#HRE

The Group has always focused on research and development and
launching of new and superb slimming and beauty services. In
particular the tailor made beauty services dedicated to Asian ladies,
many of which are invented by our Group. Combining traditional
Chinese medicine science, high-tech western technology with
our professional knowledge and techniques, we deliver the best
services to our customers. The Group never stops moving forward;
during the Year Under Review, we launched a wide variety of new
services, among which the anti-aging treatment series is highly
appraised. The Group believes that these new high-tech projects
will be a development platform for our new beauty projects.
Moreover, we will continuously update with new treatments and
new technology available to provide our clients with more variety of
beauty and slimming choices. As we adhere to our philosophy of
“serve our clients best”, the Group has been highly supported by
the pubilic.

In the past 10 years, our beauty and slimming services and our
brand name are highly reputed in both Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The Group’s outstanding establishment, the rapid growth
of beauty and slimming industry in the Mainland, low industry
standards and the lack of supervision altogether encouraged
the development of certain “Sau San Tong” copycats. Their
illegal operation and violations caused negative effect on the
Group’s reputation and normal development. As such, the Group
established the new “ R EMEZE ™ brand name during the
Year Under Review to expand the franchise co-operation market
in China. In addition, to remind the market and “Sau San Tong”
consumers that we are the one and only “Sau San Tong”. On
the other hand, to bring more opportunities for believers in China
through our franchise co-operation business. We are here to

change and realise their career dreams!

In June 2010, the Group invited a professional consultant to join
our Group. With his experiences, we hope to further develop
our franchise co-operation business in China. From scratch to
the planning; from hiring to training, we have set up a Franchise
Co-operative Business Team in just a few months time. On 19
December 2010, the franchise co-operation business launching
ceremony was successfully held at the Shanghai World Finance
Centre. As of 31 March 2011,
intension to enter the beauty industry from 40 difference cities

more than 60 investors with the

had entered agreements with the Group. Among which more than
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half of them have settled the first installment of 30% franchise co-
operation fee. During the Year Under Review, we have recorded
a turnover of over HK$3 million. The intense response and the
speedy process make the Group very confident in terms of
the franchise co-operation business bringing the Group and
shareholders to a new era.

During the Year Under Review, the Group’s turnover reached
approximately HK$627,537,000, a 33% increase from that
of approximately HK$470,725,000 during the corresponding
period last year. This strong increase is mainly attributable to the
significant growth of product distribution business in Mainland
China. During the Year Under Review, the turnover amounted
to approximately HK$556,302,000, compared to approximately
HK$403,222,000 in the corresponding period last year, the growth
reached 38%. The turnover generated by beauty, slimming and
spa centres in Hong Kong and Mainland China is approximately
HK$64,621,000, a slight decrease from approximately
HK$66,349,000 from the corresponding period last year.

During the Year Under Review, the Group incurred a loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$46,098,000 and
recorded approximately HK$24,957,000 for the corresponding
period last year. During the Year Under Review, share options
expenses incurred by the granting of share options, provision
for impairment loss and pre-operating expenses incurred by
investments in franchise co-operation business cause the general
and administrative expenses to increase rapidly. After deducting
the aforesaid non-recurrent expenses, general and administrative
expenses of the year will be largely reduced to approximately
HK$53,364,000, which is comparable to the approximately
HK$50,957,000 of last year. Thanks to the efforts of all staff and the
close supervision of cost control, we are able to effectively control
the increment of cost under this sales blooming situation, reflecting
the Group’s straight implementation of “broaden sources of income
and reduce expenditure” theory.

Throughout the years, with our enthusiasm in the beauty industry
and commitments to our customers, the brand name of “Sau
San Tong” is firmly established in both Hong Kong and the PRC
with services and treatments that lead the beauty and slimming
industry. During the Year Under Review, the Group was awarded
numerous awards, including: “Huazun Award — Most recognizable
Brand in China’s Slimming and Beauty Industry” jointly organised
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT FE#HRE

by the Economy Magazine, China Business Times, China’s
Economic Press Association and China Economy Innovation and
Development League, “Yahoo! Emotive Brand Award — Beauty
and Fitness Centre Category” by YAHOO! and “Body Specialist
2010 — Slimming Group” by Marie Claire Magazine etc. In
addition, the Group was awarded with “Caring Company Logo”
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for four consecutive
years and to participate in the School — Company Partnership
Program organised by Young Entrepreneurs Development Council
in the Year Under Review to honour the Group’s contribution to
the society. All these awards and recognitions help the Group
in strengthening its corporate image in Hong Kong as well as in
Mainland China.

The Group excelled by the ability to stay ahead of the market.
Over the years, the Group has introduced many innovative beauty
and slimming products in Hong Kong. These beauty and slimming
products enables the Group to gain additional market share as well
as strengthened its brandname. For the years to come, the Group
will continue its effort in the potential Mainland market, focus
on the franchise co-operation business and product distribution
market. The management believes that these businesses will
become the main sources of income of the Group in the coming
years. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to provide the most
professional and tailor made slimming and beauty services to our
valuable customers.

Following the development of the PRC business gradually become
mature, together with our proactive company culture and the
experience accumlated over the years, the keypoints of the PRC
market expansion have been mastered. Although the path to
success is a mile long, we firmly believe that there is a bright future
ahead of us.

On behalf of the board of Directors, | would like to express
my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, staff and
business partners for their support and trust to the Group. With
our persistent effort, | have confident that the Group will achieve
steady growth in the future and provide satisfactory return for all
shareholders.

Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 June 2011
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Business Review

For the year ended 31 March 2011 (“the Year Under Review”),
turnover amounted to approximately HK$627,537,000, representing
an increase of 33% from approximately HK$470,725,000 in last
year. Such increase was mainly due to the remarkable growth in the
distribution sales of our Shanghai Dong Fang Ri Hua Sales Co. Ltd.
(“Dong Fang”). During the Year Under Review, turnover from the
distribution business amounted to approximately HK$556,302,000
(2010: approximately HK$403,222,000). On the other hand, even
though the rivalry in the slimming and beauty industry is so intense,
during the Year Under Review, the Group still can manage to sustain
the revenue performance of all the slimming centres in both Hong
Kong and in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). During
the Year Under Review the turnover generated from all the beauty,
slimming and spa centres in Hong Kong and in the PRC amounted to
approximately HK$64,621,000 (2010: approximately HK$66,349,000).
During the Year Under Review, the new franchise co-operation
business contributed HK$3,351,000 turnover to the Group (2010:
HK$NIl).

During the Year Under Review, the Group recorded an increase of
approximately HK$9,184,000 in gross profit. The Group has incurred
a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$46,098,000 (2010: approximately HK$24,957,000). As mentioned
before, the competition and the business environment of the slimming
and beauty industry is drastic and extreme, in order to maintain
our competitive edge, the Group strengthened its existing policy of
exercising tight control over all its costs, and reducing these wherever
possible. During the Year Under Review, the administrative expenses
amount to HK$68,727,000 (2010: approximately HK$50,957,000).
During the year, the Group granted 13,610,000 share options to
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eligible participants,
share option expenses
of HK$7,921,000 are
incurred. Apart from
the above non-cash
flow expenses and
the investment in pre-
operating expenses of

franchise co-operation
business of $7,442,000,
the administrative expenses is approximately HK$53,364,000, which
is HK$2,407,000 increase from that of last year. Notwithstanding of
the significant increase in turnover, the administrative expenses are
comparable to that of last year.

By refreshing change and diversification of business, Sau San Tong
is continued to be the leader of the industry providing the most
quality and professional services to its customers.

Beauty, Slimming and Spa Centres
In Hong Kong, the Group providing not only slimming services but

also a variety of non-slimming services. In addition to a range of
comprehensive beauty and health services and the successfully

launch of “Lipo Fat Diminishing Treatment” and “PRP Plasmatic
Derma-Revive Treatment” as well as certain other innovative
treatments in last year, the Group continues to explore the new
cosmetological technology. This year, the Group also focuses on
launching a new series of anti-aging treatment in addition to the
research and development of new slimming and beauty treatment.
The Group foresees the anti-aging treatment will be another highly
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praised beauty treatment
following the medical

cosmetology treatments.
The Group wishes to provide
satisfactory services to
extensive customers through
these kind of treatments.

China’s vast slimming and

beauty market is growing
fast. The female population
aged between 15 and 64 in China currently exceeds 470 million,
which is larger than the combined total of Europe, the US and
Japan. As income levels continue to rise, mainland female
consumers’ demands for high-end slimming and beauty services is
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bound to increase further. Besides, government supervision of the
beauty sector is expected to tighten, further squeezing the low-end
operators out of the market. The Group entered into PRC market
long time ago, we built up our prestige brand, opened deluxe
beauty, slimming and spa centres in major cities and developed
the strong distribution sales network. All these moves proven our
long-term vision and strategy are on the right track. The Group
keeps on seeking opportunities to open new beauty, slimming and
spa centres in potential cities in the PRC and the distribution of
beauty products in order to capture the untapped market.

Management Consultation Services

Being the leading beauty and slimming services provider, our
Group has accumulated a wealth of experience in the management
and operation of beauty, slimming and spa centres as well as
high caliber professionals from the industry. In order to capitalise
its existing resources, the Group has embarked the provision
of management consultation services for the setting up beauty,
slimming and spa centres.

The Group is confident that there will be an immense demand for
this kind of services in the PRC since the beauty and slimming
market there is still under developed with a shortage of expertise.
Also, provision of this kind of services command not much
overhead costs and thus contributing to a positive revenue growth
to the Group.
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Health and Beauty Products

The Group’s ability of introducing innovative and quality products
has been proven in the past and earned a leading status in Hong
Kong market. The management believes by leveraging on “Sau San
Tong” brand name and the customer confidence built up over the
years, these health and beauty products will be well received in the
market. During the Year Under Review, with the introduction of the
Consultant, more than 100 points of sales of the Group’s products
in the PRC have been located. The Group is confident that with
such list of potential customers, the products sales business line
will be another major stream of business of the Group.

Distribution Business in the PRC

Apart from provision of slimming and beauty services, another
major line of business is product distribution. We distribute mainly
P&G personal care, cosmetic and skin care products, such as
SK-II, Olay, etc. and also Gillette Men series and Philips Lighting
products, as well as certain world famous brands of prestige
fragrances, such as, Dunhill, BOSS, Gucci, ESCADA, etc. We
believe that with the increasing variety of products, it will bring
sizeable revenue for the Group in near future. Looking forward, as
the PRC market continues
to boom showing
immense potential for
high-end products, the
management anticipates
the revenues generated
from the distribution
business will experience
m  further growth and will in
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turn provide the Group with
stable and sizeable source
of income.

Franchise Co-operation
Business in the PRC

]

|
Since when the Group |

[

S
L

tapped in the PRC market

[Rr——

in 2004, the Group was |
undoubtedly believed that
the PRC market is so vast
and full of opportunities. In
order to grab the market

share and to build up the
brand rapidly, we believe that franchising co-operation model
should be the best way. A few years ago, the Group attempted
the franchise co-operation business with internal available
resources. However, due to the lack of allocated resources and
expertise, the performance is still thankless even after years of
effort. We learnt a precious lesson.

In June 2010, the Group appointed the Consultant to promote,
develop and expand the Group’s franchise co-operation business

in the PRC. The Consultant is well-experienced in PRC co-
operation franchise business, after a few months preparation, the
results start to come out. Although the franchise co-operation
business still in its infant stage, the pace of development is very
encouraging. Up to 31 March 2011, with only a few months of
time, 60 potential franchisees coming from 40 different cities in
PRC have signed the letter of intent with the Group, and almost
half of them have already signed the official franchise agreements
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and paid the 1st installment of 30% franchise co-operation fee
amounting to HK$3,350,000. Such impressive results showing
the brand image of the Group is highly reputed and the Group’s
vision is correct, and giving the Group more confidence to
develop the franchise co-operation business and to invest more
resources into it.

Outlook

Looking ahead, although the economy in Mainland China is
expected to grow steadily and the Hong Kong’s economy is
recovering, there are still hidden uncertainties in the overall global
economy, the Euro-zone crisis, the coming inflation crisis, etc. Any
of these events can easily threaten the fragile economy. Besides,
during the vyear, local banks further tightened their credit policy
towards beauty and slimming industry induce the closing down
of some second tier beauty and slimming services providers and
indirectly compound the market risks and pressures. Although the
bumpy external operating environment may affect the performance
of the Group, the Group will keep on monitoring and controlling the
operating costs and cash flows, creating synergy among different
business segments, enhancing brand awareness and exploring
new business opportunities to ride through it.

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial
Resources

Cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2011 were approximately
HK$76,386,000 compared to approximately HK$39,553,000 as
at 31 March 2010. The Group’s gearing ratio of 7% (2010: 19%)
was based on the total of bank borrowings of approximately
HK$8,311,000 (2010: approximately HK$13,626,000) and
obligations under finance leases of HK$Nil (2010: approximately
HJK$791,000) and the net assets of the Group of approximately
HK$111,406,000 (2010: approximately HK$75,778,000). As
at 31 March 2011, the Group’s liability was approximately
HK$115,956,000, compared to approximately HK$78,464,000
as at 31 March 2010. It includes account payables and other
payables approximately HK$49,847,000 (2010: approximately
HK$29,250,000),
subsidiary — Dong Fang, deferred income approximately
HK$24,152,000 (2010: approximately HK$12,941,000) and bank

mainly for the daily operations of our
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borrowings approximately HK$8,311,000 (2010: approximately

HK$13,626,000), bank borrowings is also for Dong Fang trading
activities. Such liability is intended to be financed by internal
resources of the Group. The liquidity ratio of the Group represented
by a ratio of current assets over current liabilities was 2.08:1 (2010:
1.69:1), reflecting the adequacy of financial resources.

On 3 December 2010, the Company completed a right issues on
the basis of six rights shares for every share held on the record
date. The Company issued 178,537,500 rights shares of HK$0.01
each under the rights issue raising net proceeds of approximately
HK$52,000,000 (net of expenses of approximately HK$1.5
million). The net proceeds are intended to be used for expanding
the existing PRC operations, opening new slimming and beauty
centres in the PRC, expanding the Group’s product distribution
network in the PRC and as general working capital of the Group in
order to enrich and diversify its business, bringing better returns to
the Shareholders.

Capital Reorganisation and Change of Board
Lot Size

By an special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting on 18 August 2010 (the “EGM”), the Capital
Reorganisation comprising the Share Consolidation, the Capital
Reduction and the Increase in Authorised Capital has been
approved.

With the approval from shareholders of the Company, every ten
then issued ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each were consolidated
into one consolidated ordinary share of HK$2.0 each. Following
the share consolidation became effective on 2 November 2010, the
issued share capital of the Company were reduced by cancelling
the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$1.99 on each issued
consolidated share and the entire amount of the authorised but
unissued share capital was cancelled.

After the capital reduction was effective, a credit of approximately
HK$59,215,000 was arisen and which has been transferred to the
distributable capital reduction reserve account of the Company,
which was then applied to set-off the accumulated losses of the
Company.
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Following the share consolidation and the capital reduction,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

After the Capital Reorganisation became effective, the board lot
size for trading in the shares was changed from 10,000 shares to
4,000 adjusted shares.

Details of the Capital Reorganization and Change of Board Lot Size
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 6 July 2010
and the circular dated 26 July 2010.

Convertible Notes and Unlisted Warrants

Pursuant to the subscription agreement entered into between
the Company and Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley and an ordinary
resolution passed at the EGM, the Company issued a convertible
note in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000 to Dr. Cheung Yuk
Shan, Shirley (“Subscription Convertible Note”) on 5 November
2010.

Besides, pursuant to the placing agreement entered into between
the Company and the placing agent on 5 July 2010 and an
ordinary resolution passed at the EGM, the Company issued
convertible notes in the principal amount of HK$20,000,000
(“Placing Convertible Notes”) on 14 January 2011.

Both the Subscription Convertible Note and Placing Convertible
Notes are with 2% interest rate per annum and are due in 2 years
from the date of issue and convertible into ordinary shares at an
initial conversion price of HK$0.50 per conversion share, subject to
adjustments.

On 25 January 2011 and 25 February 2011, Placing Convertible
Notes in the principal amounts of HK$12,000,000 and
HK$8,000,000 respectively were converted into 24,000,000
and 16,000,000 ordinary shares respectively. Up to the date of
this report, the Subscription Convertible Note has not yet been
converted while the Placing Convertible Notes have been fully
converted.

Pursuant to the consultancy agreement entered into between the
Company and the consultant on 24 June 2010 (the “Consultancy
Agreement”), and an ordinary resolution passed at the EGM,
upon completing the requirements stated in the Consultancy
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Agreement, the Company agrees to issue unlisted warrants to
the consultant for the financial years of 2011/12 and 2012/13.
During the Year Under Review, no unlisted warrants have been
issued to the consultant. Details of the issue of unlisted warrants
under a consultancy agreement were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 July 2010 and the circular dated 26 July
2010.

Treasury Policy

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury
policies. The Group evaluates the financial condition of its customers
regularly so as to reduce the credit risk. The average outstanding
days of the Group’s accounts receivable was maintained at below
90 days. To manage liquidity risk, the Group closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure the liquidity structure of the
Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments and to ensure that
the Group can meet its funding requirements. The Group has no
investments in derivatives, bonds or structured financial products.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Since the Group’s assets and liabilities, revenue and payments
are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Renminbi, the
Groups considers that there was no significant exposure to foreign
exchange fluctuations.

Net Assets

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s net assets amounted to
approximately HK$111,406,000 compared to approximately
HK$75,778,000 as at 31 March 2010. There are no charges on the
Group’s assets as at 31 March 2011.

Contingent Liabilities

At 31 March 2011, the Group and the Company had no material
contingent liabilities.

At 31 March 2010, the Company has issued a corporate guarantee
of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,033,000)
to a bank in respect of banking facilities granted to a subsidiary as
51% owned by the Group. None of these facilities were utilised by
that subsidiary at 31 March 2010.
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Employee Information

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had 462 employees (2010:
around 477 employees). During the year, the Group’s total
staff costs amounted to approximately HK$59,686,000 (2010:
approximately HK$47,123,000), including a share option expense
amounted to approximately HK$7,921,000 (2010: HK$NIil).

The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated on the basis of
the performance and experience of individual employee and are
in line with local market practices where the Group operates. In
addition to salary, the Group also offers to its employees other
fringe benefits including provident fund and medical benefits.

The Group has a share option scheme whereby qualified
participants may be granted options to acquire shares of the
Company, under the terms and conditions stipulated therein, as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group. During
the Year Under Review, the Company granted further 13,610,000
share options under the share option scheme to eligible
participants, including employees, professional advisors and a
director of the Company to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Together with the share options issued during the year, there is
an aggregate of 14,256,248 outstanding options to subscribe for
14,256,248 shares of the Company pursuant to the share option
scheme as at 31 March 2011.

Significant Investments and Acquisitions

There were no significant acquisitions and disposals of investments
by the Group during the Year Under Review.

Future Plan

Going forward, in addition to the continual improvement of the
operation performance of the existing beauty, slimming and spa
centres. Besides, the Group will invest more resources on franchise
co-operation business and beauty product distribution business in
order to enrich and diversify our business, bringing profits to our
shareholders.
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Directors

Executive Director

Dr. CHEUNG Yuk Shan, Shirley, aged 36, is the Chairman and
the Founder of the Group. She established the Group ten years
ago and successfully developed it to a group with over 400 staff.
Dr. Cheung is responsible for the overall stewardship of the Group
which includes directions and formulating strategies. Leading the
Group to a new height, she achieved various accomplishments
complimenting her management style and innovative promotional
strategies. In the past, Dr. Cheung has been received the Honour
Award of the “Innovative Entrepreneur” of the Hong Kong district,
organised by the City Junior Chamber, and was awarded as one
of the “100 Outstanding Women Entrepreneurs in China” by the
“Women Entrepreneurs’ Association of China”. She is also one of
the few Hong Kong awardees and one of the youngest awarded
entrepreneurs. Subsequently, Dr. Cheung has been awarded as
one of the “World Outstanding Chinese” and one of the “Top Ten
Most Influential Entrepreneur for China Brand Building” by The
Board of Ten Influential China Brands. In 2010, Dr. Cheung is
awarded the “Huazun Award — The Most Outstanding Women in
Chinese Brand Building” jointly by the Economy Magazine, China
Business Times, China’s Economic Press Association and China
Economy Innovation and Development League. Besides, she is
appointed as an Honorary President of the Federation of Beauty
Industry (H.K.) as well as one of the Sector/Subject Specialist
of the Hong Kong Council for Academic Accreditation in 2010.
Furthermore, Dr. Cheung is appointed as a member of the Beauty
Industry Training Advisory Committee of Education Bureau -
Qualifications Framework.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Heng, Frankie, aged 38, is an Executive Director.
He is responsible for the business development and administration
of the Group. Mr. Cheung holds a master degree in business
administration from Americus University of the United States.
Prior to joining the Group in June 2002, he was the director of
Vicorp Credit Services Limited, a company which provides credit
information, commencing from September 1999. Mr. Cheung
was previously an executive director of Chevalier Pacific Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Exchange.
Mr. Cheung is the elder brother of Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HONG Po Kui, Martin, aged 61, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director and joined the Group in June 2002. He is
responsible for giving advices to the board of Directors and
shareholders of the Company. Mr. Hong is a practicing solicitor
and a notary public in Hong Kong. He has been practicing as a
solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong for over 35 years and is
the senior partner of Messrs Lau, Chan & Ko, Solicitors. He holds
a bachelor degree in science from University of New South Wales.
Mr. Hong is an independent non-executive director of Modern
Beauty Salon Holdings Limited and Fulbond Holdings Limited, both
of which companies listed on the Main Board of the Exchange.

Mr. LI Kuo Hsing, aged 52, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director and joined the Group in June 2002. He is the Vice
Chairman of the Federation of Motion Film Producers of Hong
Kong Limited since 1998 and appointed Member of the Election
Committee for the Performing Arts sub-sector of the Legislative
Council Election. Mr. Li is the founder and chairman of Mei Ah
Entertainment Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Exchange.

Ms. HUI Yat Lam, aged 37, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director and joined the Group in March 2008. Ms. Hui is an
associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Ms. Hui has over 16 years of experience in
professional auditing, accounting and financial management. Ms.
Hui was previously the qualified accountant and company secretary
of Long Success International (Holdings) Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Exchange.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Ching Leung, aged 38, is the Financial Controller,
Qualified Accountant and Company Secretary of the Group. Mr.
Tse is responsible for overseeing the accounting and financial
management and company secretarial functions of the Group. He
is an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Tse joined the Group in February 2008 and has
accumulated over 16 years of accounting and auditing experience.
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Introduction

The Company puts strong emphasis on the superiority, steadiness
and rationality of corporate governance. Subject to the deviations
as disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with all
the provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) as set out in the GEM Listing Rules by establishing
a formal and transparent procedures to protect and maximize the
interests of shareholders during the year.

Directors’ Securities Transaction

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM listing rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
they all confirmed having complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors adopted by the Group.

The Board of Directors

The board of Directors (the “Board”) currently comprises five
directors, including two executive directors and three independent
non-executive directors. The Board is mainly accountable to the
shareholders. It is also in charge of the management, business
strategy, annual and interim results,
acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions and other
major operational and financial aspects of the Group. Major
corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include the preparation of annual and
interim accounts for board approval before publishing, execution

risk management, major

of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board,
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory
requirements and rules and regulations.

Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the members of the
Board are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management Profile”
of this annual report. All Directors have given sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive director has
sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his/her
duties effectively and efficiently.
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The Board fulfilled the minimum requirement of appointing at least
three independent non-executive directors throughout the year. It
also met the requirement of having one independent non-executive
director with appropriate professional qualification or professional
accounting or financial management expertise throughout the year.

Each of the independent non-executive directors have entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term expiring on 31 July
2010, with the term being renewed for a further term of one year
commencing from 1 August 2010.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each independent non-executive directors and therefore still
considers them to be independent.

Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie, an executive director, is the elder
brother of Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley, the chairman. Save
as disclosed above, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

During the year, the Board met four times to review the financial
and operating performance of the Group. The details of the
attendance rate of each director are as follows:
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Attendance at

Board meeting Attendance rate

Name of directors BEHS EEEHERE i E R
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley REMEL 4/4 100%
Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie R 1E A 4/4 100%
Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin BB A 3/4 75%
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing A A 3/4 75%
Ms. Hui Yat Lam F—REZT 4/4 100%
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Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley assumes the role of both the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company. While
serving as the chairman of the Group, Dr. Cheung leads the Board
and is responsible for the proceedings and workings of the Board.
The role of chairman and chief executive officer of the Group rests
on the same individual which deviates from the Code of not having
a clear division of responsibilities.

The Board is of the view that it is in the best interests of the
Group to have Dr. Cheung, who is the founder of the Group with
vast and solid experience in the beauty sector, to perform the
dual role so that the Board can have the benefit of a chairman
who is knowledgeable about the business of the Group and is
most capable to guide discussions and brief the Board in a timely
manner on pertinent issues. With Dr. Cheung being the chief
executive officer, the Group can also benefit from having strong
connection and network in the beauty market.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are: to independent review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems, to ensure good communications among Directors and the
Company’s auditors, to recommend the appointment of external
auditors on an annual basis and approval of the audit fees, to
assist the Board in oversight of the independence, qualifications,
performance and compensation of the independent accountant, to
review quarterly, interim and annual results announcements as well
as the financial statements prior to their approval by the Board, to
provide advice on audit report, accounting policies and comments
to all Directors.
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The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors including Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin (Chairman of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Li Kuo Hsing and Ms. Hui Yat Lam. During
the year, the Audit Committee held four meetings to assess the
effectiveness of internal control system, to review all draft annual,
quarterly and interim financial reports, and to know about external
auditors’ statutory audit plan. The attendance records of the audit
committee meetings are set out below:
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Attendance at
Audit Committee

Name of Audit EREES meeting Attendance rate
Committee members REHER EREESHERE HER
Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin BELAE 3/4 75%
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing R E S A 3/4 75%
Ms. Hui Yat Lam R 4/4 100%

Auditors’ Remuneration

The audit committee of the Company is responsible for considering
the appointment of the external auditor and reviewing any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditor, including
whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential
material adverse effect on the Company. During the year, auditors’
remuneration for audit services (inclusive of taxation services)
is HK$930,000. Besides that, the fee for professional services
rendered for rights issue is $290,000. Save as disclosed above, no
services such as due diligence and other advisory services were
provided during the year.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Group was established in
accordance with the Code. The main role and function included
the determination of the specific remuneration packages of all
Executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment. The Remuneration
Committee should consider factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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Members of the Remuneration Committee include three
independent non-executive directors, namely, Mr. Li Kuo Hsing
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Hong Po Kui,
Martin and Ms. Hui Yat Lam.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting to consider
and approve (i) the remuneration of the Directors, (ii) salary
adjustment of the management of the Group; and (i) range of
salary adjustment of employees of the Group. The attendance
record of the Remuneration Committee meeting is set out below:

FNEES R EBRBE-2BIINTESF
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Attendance at
Remuneration

Name of Remuneration FHEES Committee meeting Attendance rate
Committee members REHA FMZEESHERE HE=R
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing TR E A 1/1 100%
Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin FREEE 1/1 100%
Ms. Hui Yat Lam FFEZE 11 100%

Nomination of Directors

The Board is empowered under the Company’s Articles of
Association to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy on or, subject to authorisation by the shareholders
of the Company in general meeting, as an additional member of
the Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board for
consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based on the
assessment of their professional qualifications and experience. The
Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship having
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
Group’s business.

REES

EEgRARFMEBERAIREZETMAA
TRESF  WEAMZEHR  KERRARRLK
RAELEREZBNMEREZENE - A&
RIKEAREZTESSUEEEZE - PR
EUAFRNRREEXEERER ZFEM™
EoBEFRNRSREAKREXBMEES

RReEgRy FTEmMEREZRERREA -

Annual Report 2010/11 4 4
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED 15 & % 45 i B A 5]

N4



Zaxd

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ©t¥&

Responsibility of Preparation of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements of the Company. As at 31 March 2011, the
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties or events
which may have a significant impact on the Company’s ability to
operate as an on-going concern. Accordingly, the Directors have
prepared the financial statements of the Company on an on-going
concern basis. The responsibility of the auditors with respect to
financial reporting are set out in the Report of the Auditors in this
annual report.

Internal Control Systems

The Company has conducted a review of its system of internal
control periodically to ensure an effective and adequate internal
control system exists. The Company convened meeting periodically
to discuss financial, operational and risk management control. The
Directors consider that the Company has implemented a series
of procedures for safeguarding the Company’s assets against
unauthorised use or misappropriation, maintaining accounting
records properly and ensuring the reliability of financial information.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The Company has disclosed
all necessary information to the shareholders in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules and through various communication
channels, including annual and extraordinary general meetings,
annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars
to update the shareholders on the Group’s business developments
and financial performance. Such information is also available on
the Company’s website: http://www.sausantong.com.
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Sau San Tong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in Cayman Islands on 21 May 2002 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares
have been listed on The Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 19 November 20083.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and particulars of the subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the financial
statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of beauty and
slimming services from slimming centres, distribution sales of
cosmetic and skin care products and sale of other health and
beauty products. The slimming centres, which are operated under
the “Sau San Tong” brand name, provide services such as whole
and partial body slimming, weight management, body treatment
services and facial treatment services to its customers.

Financial Statements

The loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011, and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date, are
set out in the financial statements on pages 45 to 142.

Transfer of Reserves

Loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$46,098,000
(2010: HK$24,957,000) has been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 50.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).
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Summary Financial Information

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 4. The summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the financial statements on pages
92 to 93.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 28(c) to the financial statements on
pages 120 to 1283.

Distributable Reserves

Pursuant to the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and reserved) of the Cayman Islands, share premium
and contributed surplus of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders. As at 31 March 2011,
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$55,155,000 (2010: HK$NIil).

the Company’s reserves

Segment Information

The segment information of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2011 is set out in note 12 to the financial statements on pages 89
to 91.

Share Option Information
A summary of the share option scheme and details of the

movements in share options of the Company during the year are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements on pages 115 to 118.
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Directors

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley
Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin
Mr. Li Kuo Hsing
Ms. Hui Yat Lam

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie and Mr. Hong Po Kui,
Martin will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Mr. Hong Po Kui, Martin, Mr. Li Kuo Hsing and Ms. Hui
Yat Lam as at the date of this annual report and therefore still
considers them to be independent.

Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are
set out on pages 25 to 26.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley and Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie
each has entered into a service contract with the Company for
a term of three years commencing 4 November 2003 and will
continue thereafter for successive term of one year unless and until
terminate by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by
either party to the other provided that such notice period shall not
expire at any time during the first 12 calendar months of the term
of the appointment.

Each of these Executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary and
a discretionary bonus provided that the aggregate amount of the
bonuses payable to all the Executive Directors for any financial year
of the Company may not exceed 10% of the audited consolidated
net profit of the Group (after taxation and non-controlling interests
but before extraordinary and exceptional items of the Group) in
respect of the financial year.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have been appointed
for a term expiring on 31 July 2010 with the term being renewed
for a further term of one year commencing from 1 August 2010.
Save for a total fee of approximately HK$130,000 for all of them
for the year ended 31 March 2011, the Independent Non-Executive
Directors are not entitled to any other remuneration.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

None of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of the financial year to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party.
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BYINITEEREZAZAHER T —ZF
tA=+—HE®R MEBFHEEET —
F HAZT—ZEF/N\A—HBHEH  BREZE=
T——F=ZA=t+—BHLEFEINTFHRSELE
Z W& A H#H 130,000 TN 0 BIIEMITE
EEBZTHAMEMME -

EEZENER
& 170 NG SRDILE PN H A

RAFREFREARBERFIDAFEZEMEKX
BHTERAREREEARES

g
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Shares

As at 31 March 2011, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates in shares and underlying shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which are required to be notified to the Company and
the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests and/or short positions which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which will
be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company:

EERFETHRAERROD 2ERE
RXR

WZE——F=A=+—H ARAEZEBLE
ZITBAEBSESBZHMEALTRARARIHE
B EE (TR RESFLRBERM((ESRBE
TRl 1) 88 XV EB) Z B An R AR B 10 ([ A& 17 1)
HAEESSARE  MARBESRMBEEASE
XVEETREBDHHATE G AR T KRBT
(BERBEES KGR GRS - BER
RABERB 2 EERIHKR) - IBIEES
MAEEPIEI2EHFEE - HARBAEZER
FTRBIE5.46 £ 5.67 5 AR A KB FT
FWT

RARBB 2557

Number of shares

BRHOEE
Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
Company’s
issued share
capital
Corporate Personal HEAT
Name of directors interests interests Total 2EITRA
EEnE AT EAERE By EzZENEIHL
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley 31,332,000 21,014,700 52,346,700 21.08%
ok BB L (Note 1)
(K1at 1)
Note 1: BT

The 31,332,000 shares were held by Biochem Investments Limited (“Biochem”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. The
entire issued share capital of Biochem is wholly owned by Dr. Cheung Yuk
Shan, Shirley.

% 31,332,000 & fi% 17 B8 Biochem Investments Limited
([Biochem |)# % - Biochem 5 — N EBRE LB B =
MR 2 BR AT - Biochemz 282 BT AH K E
MET2EES -
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Long position in underlying shares of the Company:
Share Option Scheme
The interests in the underlying shares of the Company arise from

share options granted to the Directors of the Company under the
Company’s share option scheme, details of which are as follows:

RAATEBRG 212

BT E

AR FEBIRG 2 355k B A D AR AR
HURTAATNEEZMRE - HFENT

Approximate

percentage
Aggregate interest in
long position  the Company’s
in underlying issued
shares of the share capital
Subscription Company NN
price per share RAAQF BRITRA
Name of director Date of grant Exercisable period BREH HER G H BEzHN
Expg RFEH 76 RBE HRZEY Bk
Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley 10 September 2004 10 September 2004 — HK$7.9226 323,124 0.13%
REMEL “ZTMENATH 3 November 2013 7.9226 77T (Note 2)
“EENFNATRE (Note 2) (frzz2)
“E-ZH+-A=H (Hi#t2)
Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie 10 September 2004 10 September 2004 — HK$7.9226 323,124 0.13%
REELE “ZTMENATAE 3 November 2013 7.9226 7T (Note 2)
“TEMFNA+HE (Note 2) (fi:#2)
“Z-=f+—-A=H (Hizt2)
Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie 2 March 2011 2 March 2011 — HK$0.66 2,000,000 0.81%
G “T——%=AZH 1 March 2016 0.66/87T
“E——4=HAZRAZ
—T-RE=H-H
Note 1: Bzt 1 -

The above interest constitutes a long position of the Director in a physically
settled equity derivative for the purpose of the SFO.

Note 2:

As a result of the completions of capital reorganisation and rights issue of the
Company on 2 November 2010 and 3 December 2010, the number of share
options and the subscription prices have been adjusted in accordance with the
requirements of Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules and the supplementary
guidance issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 5 September
2005.

HEZEHEGINS LGB RERRABYE

ERATETAZIFA -
HteE2 -

HRARBZBAESEARTEDFINR _—FE—BF+—A4
ZERZE-TE+_A=HB5%K  BRESE &R

EBERIBEAFER ETRAIFE23.03(13) GREABHAR S
FERAFAN_-ZETRAFNA LB RMZHITIESI H
ZIRTELEH I o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates has any personal, family, corporate or other interests
or short positions in the Shares of the Company or its associated
(within the meaning of Part XV of SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Exchange pursuant to the
minimum standard of dealings by Directors of the Company as
referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, are
required to be notified to the Company and the Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares

As at 31 March 2011, so far was known to any Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following interests of which would
fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or who were deemed to be directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the issued capital of the Company, or which were
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or have notified to the Company were as
follows:

Long position in Shares:

B EXPREEN  R_T——F=A=+—
B ARARESE  TBITRABSEZB 2B
BALBERARRREEBEE (EERES
NHEVEGBIEXVER) 2 ltoed - A AR
RIRBEESLMERPIE2GREFEZE
RCft R - SRIRAIRR EHRAIF 5.46 £5.67
GAAARRESETR G 2 RERERANE
RATRBRAZEA -~ Kk~ AR EME
HEORR - MAMEARNRE MBI o

FTERRRRO2BHERAR

RZFB——F=ZA=+—H BARAEMAE
ERTBTHRABMRHM  TIREERIERESF K
HERPIEXVEE2 REINEATHKE - 3
RERSERXEAEEEARBEHEITRAES
FUE REATHERREBEELFLPEGRIE
BHEREFEZ A ERMIAEARAE
LI

R 2R

Number of shareholding

BHREE

Number

of share

options held

Substantial shareholder Capacity Share Percentage FriE
FERR 14 g B BREZE
Biochem Beneficial owner 31,332,000 12.62% —

BB A

Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley Beneficial owner 21,014,700 8.46% 323,124

REMB L BEmEAA
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, no person, other
than the Directors of the Company and the chief executive of the
Group whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Position in Shares” above,
has registered an interest or short position in the share capital,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares” above, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

Competing Interests

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company
or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
has any interest in a business which compete or might compete
with the business of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float in accordance
with the GEM listing rules.

B ENPIEEEN  RZTE——F=ZA=+—
B BARRESEIAEETIRTHRAS(EE
B2ER EXEZEREIRTRABREKN 2#RE
Koxa I —&d) s BEEERALTRARER
A HERDREFTELCEBERIRE
BRI RE 75 M B & 5 0 56 336 15 T LARCER -

ESWBERNES 2 EF

B EXEERERITRABRED 2 s FR
BI-EMEREEIN  ENES AEE 2B
AW TN\ FZRFREREESEER
BAABRBARB 2D HESFMERS - M
WENEBITEZSEN AR - EEZRA
Al HEAERIME AR SKE R B QR ERT
MEMZHBEERAESETMEMEAERR
LA SHER

BEEER
ADNREE TERELRSAZHEAL(E

& RAIZR ETRA I A EACE B XTI
BFHAREBAE T 2 E P A T -

BE - HEFBERALQF LHES

ARABKEEAHBLARAGERFABE &

Bl gk E RN FHER L WS

BARRLHAABZEMMESNTELRFR
Al XRERAITRBMA  KRARERAIR
R EMRAZ RERTT R ARFFRE

g
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 98.13% (2010: 86.42%) of the total purchases for
the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 96.86% (2010: 80.33%). Sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for 32.50% (2010: 20.49%) of the
total sales for the year.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to approximately HK$250,000 (2010: HK$183,000).

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Audit Committee

The Group has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Details of the role and work performed by the
committee are set out in “Corporate Governance Report” in the
annual report. The audit committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2011.

FEREFRHKER

FRN AEEEBERAAHERZRBEEFE
BIREEEE 2 98.13% (ZE—ZF : 86.42%) -
mMEEFRRAHERZRKEZEB.86%(ZF
—ZTF :80.33%) c AEEZAAREP ZHE
EHEEAEEE 23250% (T — T4 .
20.49%) °

ARREFHEETABEALRERAER(GLE
ERA > REHREZRABBARFCD ET
BARZ %)M ANEERAHEEPMEREEE

A B 2 25 -
=8
BERM

REBRF AN 2 Z1870EL 250,000 7B
TT(ZE—F4 : 183,000 &) °

BrRERE

ARRAF 2 EBERMRNL EITREREGEESL
BERZGX  MASHEEZNERZSTE
MR EEARH

BEREEE

AEEDERAIER ETHRANES28%£5.33
RZHRERLIEZEZE S » WAEERZHB
HEHE - ZEEZACRMETZITIEFHEH
RAFRICEERARS IN - BEREEGEE
MAEEHE—_T——F=-A=+—ALFE
ZIREMBE|E o
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Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Director on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Auditor

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited retire and, being eligible offer
themselves for reappointment. A resolution for re-appointment of
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 June 2011

FRESETRESXZZTATE

ARBERESHEITEFR ZHEMN—EIKHA
BNAIER EMRAIE 548 E 567182 RS
TIREREEE Z1TASR  ERAESEITH
HERP21TRTR c ERMEZESERRERE
HE - AARREMBESHEETEHRAIZE
R ETTRBIZE 5.48 £ 5.67 1§&FTHll 2 22 5 WA STHZ

# o

BB
ABEBEAMEBMAERATDEREER B
BERARTRERBEL - ARRHRERE
BRERBFAEG HRZ2-—TBRER - BERBE
BB EBEMER DR RAREZEED -

REREES

2
& E M

B ZE——FA=+=H
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BAKER TILLY

HONG KONG LIMITED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

RIBE R g A IR 2 A

12th Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

kT A P 168-200 5% {5 1 oL R R K BT 12 B

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Sau San Tong Holdings Limited

BEEEZERERDA

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sau
San Tong Holdings Limited (the “Company” and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”)) set out on pages 45 to 142, which comprise
the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 March
2011, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

HESFEERARAT
(RESHSEME L R A])
PRBRRZB IR E

AAZERED (AT B[ 2 P9 ) BB AR D N 58 45
EF1R2AEEHGERERERARUATERBE
RADZHEAMBRE - BREMBREERE
R-E——F=ZA=t+—HZEAKRREE
BERNMBEZALFEZHEARAER &
BERENGEER HERREHRMGEAEDNR
BEXR URTBESHBRZME R E MR
o

ESHREMBRRAREZER

BERREFARERBEEBEMAGRM 2
BEMBREEIN B B(RRED ) 2 WER
EREURAMIERE - ASHEAMBMRIEL
FEMAVZRBR  REBEERBEREAY
IR B Z NERIES] - A AR A M ®K
TFEMPRFFRIERMER 2 EAFHRERAL

BBz BE

BMNEEEREBERMNECHZERENT
BRIFLEBR - AMEERNEBBRERS - I
BELAS - I RS TR BIEE AR - A
BARAREANS  HEMEMALABSA
EEAREME -

Annual Report 2010/11 4 4
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED & & &% 3% A FR A+

4



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’ S REPORT ¥ 3 #Z 2 Ef 3R &5

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of the affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2011 and of the Group’s loss and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 23 June 2011

Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond
Practising certificate number P02092
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Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other revenue

Other net income/(loss)

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Loss from operations

Finance costs

Share of (losses)/profits of jointly
controlled entities

Loss before taxation
Income tax expense
Loss for the year
Attributable to:

Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Loss for the year

Loss per share
Basic and diluted

The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

EES

$HE AR

R

Hptb Yy am

Hi A/ (B518) 8
$HE KD AN
—RRRITHFA X
wepR

BB A

FEIEHRIEHIE R
(&), &

BREAIE R
Fr8 i f >
FREE
BER
KAREAA
SERRR S
FREE

BRER
EARRE#E

Note
s

6(a)

10

11

B o

2010
—E-EF

HK$'000
FEIT
470,725
(389,006)
81,719
2,254
(83)
(61,211)
(50,957)
(28,278)

(1,248)

2,858
(26,668)

(2,154)
(28,822)
(24,957)

(3,865)
(28,822)

HK cents
JENL

(30.90)

FOEZEF 142 AZMEIMFLRAMBHRERZ
.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #& 2 H W& &
For the year ended 31 March 2011 H#E T ——F=ZA=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2%1))

2011 2010
—E2——F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
Loss for the year FREE (48,033) (28,822)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FREMEEWE :
Exchange differences on translation of QB GIN B A B 2 B IE IRk
financial statements of overseas FrEEZENZE -
subsidiaries, net of nil tax mIE 2558 2,794 —
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEBELE (45,239) (28,822)
Attributable to: BBER
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE ZEDN (44,858) (24,957)
Non-controlling interests Elaaliiyy T (381) (3,865)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEBEEAEHE (45,239) (28,822)
The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated EEIEF 142 B 2T EREMHEREZ
financial statements. —#BS o

Annual Report 2010/11 4 # 4k
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 & ¥ A B A+



Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Interests in jointly controlled entities

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Amounts due from related parties
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued charges

Amount due to a director

Amounts due to jointly controlled
entities

Amounts due to related parties

Deferred income

Obligations under finance leases

Current taxation

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Convertible notes
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE
ERR =Y g
kS
RAERZESERZ S

RBEE

FE

e E 5 5RIA
BNRIE B2k
H{th FEUR IR
FEU BEsE A L3RR
ReEhReEEY

RBRE
RITER

e E 5 3R
Hib AN R B
e —REEFHIA
e SRR FR I E A2
R

e BEE A £ 50R
B A
MEBEAE
TR

RBEEFE
EERBERRDAEE
FRBEME

ARERE
ELEHEAE

BEFHE

Note
s

13
14
16

17
18

18
19

20
21
21
22

16
19

23
25(a)

24
25(b)

2010
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET

21,177
250
5,692
27,019
7,308
43,187
20,697
16,478
39,5563
127,223
13,626
19,191
10,059
14,306
2,890
887
12,941
791
393
75,084

52,139

79,158

3,380
3,380

75,778
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET R EEEBR
At 31 March 2011 R=Z——F=F=+—8
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABT2751)

2011 2010
—2——fF —E-TF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEAXRK#E 28
Share capital [N 2,483 59,513
Reserves {1 89,291 (3,748)

Total equity attributable to owners RATEE AERER

of the Company BEE 91,774 55,765
Non-controlling interests e IR = 19,632 20,013
TOTAL EQUITY RBE 111,406 75,778

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23 EEGR T —FARAt-HHEREE

June 2011. Tz o
Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie
EER EEE
Director Director
EFE EF

The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated FEE3EF142B W EG AT ERE S
financial statements. —uf5
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Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liability

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Other payables and accrued charges
Amount due to a director

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Convertible notes

NET ASSETS
CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital
Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE

RHBAR ZRE
RBEE

JE UG P B 2~ AR IR
BNFIE - BE REARER
R

REeERREFED

RBAE

AN NSO
Hib A SRIA N FEEH B R
e —REEFHIA

RBEEFH
EERBERRDAEE

FRBEME
ABRERE

BEFHE
BEXRf#EE

AN
G

RESAHE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 23

June 2011.

Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley

[
Director

EF

The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

53 %

—#5

H

Note
HtaE

15

15

18

15
21
22

24

28

ES

2010
—E-TF

HK$’000
FET

58,614

547
14,144

73,305
3,540
1,076

14,489

19,105

54,200

54,204

54,204

59,513
(5,309)

54,204

EFEN T —FAA-T=AMERERE
T -

Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie

REE
Director

EF

142 B 2 M FHRAMBHRERZ
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ZREeEm B8R
For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZ=F——F=A=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 2%1))

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAARENEE
The PRC
Capital Share-based  Convertible ~ statutory Non-
reduction payment notes  surplus Acc- controlling
Share Share  Merger  reserve  Exchange  reserve  reserve  reseve  umulated interests Total

capital premium  reseve  ERHE  reserve R TR %EEE  losses Totd R equiy
BE  RBRE  AREE B ENBE ARBE  ZEGE  EBBE  ZHER A Bi  EnfE
Note HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000

i3 At fEr TRt A FEr FEr #Er o et FEr 7R FEn

A1 April 2009 W-EENERA-R 9,599 90,926 (3,687) - 4293 3315 - 784 (74,172) 31,108 23878 54,986
Changes in equity for 2010~ —F-FE2RE%:
Issues of sheres Bk 28(c)fi) 9914 1,920 - - - - - - - 51,834 - 51,834
Share issUe expenses RiEfER 28(c)i - 2,220) - - - - - - - (2,220) - 2,220)
Cancelfion of share options. 4 g - - - - - (142 - - 1 - - -
Total comprehensive oss for ~~ ER2EEHE

e yer 88 - - - - - - - S T B8 (8EY)
At 31 March 2010 K-E-5EZf=1-H 59,513 90,626 (3,687) - 4293 3,173 - 784 (98,987) 55,765 20,013 15,178
At1 April 2010 H-§-ZERA-R 59,513 90,626 (3,687) - 4293 3,173 - 784 (98,987) 55,765 20,013 75,118
Changes in equity for 2011: ~ —F--E7RE%H:
Capital reducton ERYE B (9.215) - -5 - - - - - - - -
Trangfor to set off accumulated ~ EBNERERH KL

losses upon capial reduction  Z:tE A - - - 9219 - - - - 505 - - -
Issues of shares ik 280 178 51776 - - - - - - - 53561 - 53561
Share issUe expenses RivEfER 28(c)i - (1,356) - - - - - - - (1,356) - (1,356)
Fquity-setled share-based EREERNAT

transactions %% - - - - - 791 - - - 7,901 - 7.9
Canceltion of share options 4 g - - - - - (1757) - - 1,757 - - -
Issues of convertiole notes BhUERRE % - - - - - - 2675 - - 2475 - 2675
Conversion of convertblenotes ~ BETARZER

into shares ) U 400 19,206 - - - - (1,360) - - 18,266 - 18,266
Appropriaton to the PRC BRREERRS

statutory surplus reserve il - - - - - - - 90 960) - - -
Total comprehensive oss for ~~ ER2EEHE

e yer 88 - - - - - - S0 %8 [B) (52
At 31 March 2011 K-E--EZR=1-H 2483 160072 (3,687) - 5,533 9,337 1315 1,744 85,073 91,74 19682 111,406

The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated FEE3EF 142 AT I FFEAMBRE L
financial statements —# e
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Operating activities

Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:

— Interest income
— Depreciation

— Equity-settled share-based payment

expenses

— Impairment losses on trade
receivables, other receivables,
deposits paid and amounts due

from related parties

— Write-off of other receivables
— Reversal of impairment loss on

trade receivables

— Net (gain)/loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

— Finance costs

— Share of losses/(profits) of jointly

controlled entities
— Net foreign exchange

Operating loss before changes in

working capital

Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and

other receivables

Decrease in amounts due from related

parties
Increase in trade payables

Increase in other payables and accrued

charges

Increase/(decrease) in deferred income
Increase in amounts due to jointly

controlled entities

Increase in amount due to related

parties

Cash used in operations

PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid

Interest received

Net cash used in operating activities

REEY

BT Al 5 1R

AT R

— B HA

— &

— BaEX N ZBNRS
53

— EWE SR - Eh
FEYRIR ~ ER S
K e YRR i A 5008
R EEER

— Hofth & W SR IE 55

— EWE SRR ERRE
B[l

— hWEME  HEREREZ
(Yt ) /B HEFER

— BERA

— R EEES
BiR (&7

— EHFE

EEESEHA
wEEpR

TR

J& W 5 SRIAIE hn
BNRIA - mE MEM
& Yo R IE HE A

& W Bl 2 A £ 500R
D

e 2 5 5RIAE N
Hib A SRIA N R E R
1N

B AIE N, OB )
JEA H R I B B FRIA
el

e BEE A £ 500R
KN

ARREXRRE

ENPBEEEMEHR
BEIFE

uEE
)

ARREEH RS FE

Note
HtaE

2010
—ET-TF

HK$'000
FBT

(26,668)

(194)
10,836

9,386
1,013

(233)

1,665
1,248

(2,858)
(17)
(5,822)

(1,667)
(8,629)

(800)

941
4,683

856
(2,099)

2,746

(9,791)

(1,476)
194

(11,073)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT #Ze R €

For the year ended 31 March 2011 2 -2 ——F=A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LABTZ2751)

Investing activities

Payment for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities

Issues of shares, net of expenses
Repayment of bank loans
Proceeds from new bank loans
Proceeds from issue of convertible
notes, net of expenses
Advance from/(repayment to)
a director
Capital element of finance lease
rentals paid
Interest element of finance lease
rentals paid
Other borrowing costs paid

Net cash generated from financing
activities

Increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
31 March

Major non-cash transactions:

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
BiaE FET FHET
BRETH
BEWE  HMBERERE
pANES (13,133) (7,209)
HEME - WS RERHE
ZFT1B50R 161 60
ARBETE2HEFHE (12,972) (7,149)
BESEE
BT - kRS 28(c)(iii) 52,005 49,614
BEIFITER (27,821) (112,860)
HIGIRITE R Z 13508 22,025 103,952
BATR R IR 2 FT{S AR -
R 19,500 —
M—BREBZRN(BRZ
FRIE 6,172 (10,530)
BENREREREZER
=ia) (791) (1,141)
ENmERERS
FEE S (14) (67)
B EMEERAR (740) (1,181)
REBMETH RS
FEE 70,336 27,787
RERBESZEEY
N 35,779 9,565
ROA—BAZRERRESEEY 39,553 29,988
ExgmsogE
1,054 —
R=ZA=+—HZBEER
HEEEY 76,386 39,553
BERFERERS :

The proceeds on issue of convertibles notes to a director of
HK$20,000,000 (note 24) were satisfied by setting off an equivalent
amount of outstanding owing by the Company to that director.

Certain additions to property, plant and equipment amounting to
HK$2,397,000 were not yet settled at 31 March 2011.

The notes on pages 53 to 142 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.

BT EE T —H/E S 2 20,000,000/8 7T
8B 24) ERARRIRNZBES Y
KEEHERSHSE -

R-ZE——F=ZA=+—8 2,397,000 T
ZETWE  HWBERIERBMWABE -

FEI3EF 142 B ZMENIEGRAUBERERZ

—#5 -

4
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Company information

Sau San Tong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 May
2002 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law Cap. 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares have
been listed on The Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 19 November 2003.

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands and has its
registered office and principal place of business at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and 4th Floor, Sands Building,
17 Hankow Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
respectively.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements for year ended 31
March 2011 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”), and the Group’s interests in
jointly controlled entities.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
and Accounting Guidelines issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”).

NAEEH

EFEERERDFATARATD DR -F
E_EFRAA-T-HARBEREEEER
FR2BRADE(—NAN—FED = - K4R
BRIEFNHASHSEMK LSRR R
BRAR MERNE -ZT=F1+—A
ThEEREEBAXZMERAE (K
R DRIZER(TRIZEMR]) £ -

ARBIAFSHERAE - A ER
N EZE XM B D R Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands &
BABNEALPHEQBI7THIEKRES
i o

EIEETHE
(a) MHEH

BHE_Z——F=ZRA=+—BL#F
BZEEMBBRREBEARARE
i8R (R ARE]) RAKE
REFEH B2

RAEMBHREDBEMARASS
MBREENE B BEREE
] WHABRESEGTMAE
(TaBgstmAg)EhzEaHE
RIEREEMBRELER - BEG
FFERI(TEB g &R D ERER
g:HESl) BB AREHRAKE
BATMGHIZ HBERERE - 426
MISmENTEHIMEIEREFH
EmRANTAIZER ETHRAN) 2@
PR BRI »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 3 provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period (see note 34).

A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

BB TTIIR)

2

TESTHEMR)

(a)

(b)

BHIRAE)

BEGMAGERME TRAE
B RARE 2 NG HIE AR ER
KAl IR R R 2] REIER] &
B EER - HE3REE
BREAZFER(MRGEMBR
RIRBR Z REAR KB HAME R £
BEM EL TS REESH 2

752 [ 30 4 E PR AR (] AR & S AR 18
RERZ T ER SR B(RM T
34) -

AEERMZEIZEABRZIME
£

MBEBER2ERERE

MESEEMBBRRFRAZFER
BERE L BARESE o

RAETAETAYBREENZHEE
HBBREAFTESEEED AL - &
B - MFHE - BT RR
REVERRZERMEE A&
RPARRAS 2 2HEE - 25
AAREEBRRIREAERR T
TREBATHERAEZZEEM
AESERMIEL - EERBRY
BARHEMKET R SBHZEE
RAEZREEFDL 82 2% -
BERGERAEEZFHET TR -

N4
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on these
consolidated financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 33.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Control exists when the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control,
potential voting rights that presently are exercisable are
taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

2 FESHBE#®)

(b)

(c)

BBBRZEREE(E)

A RAREBRREFER -
FHEFHERTE R B 5% B -
FIEE AR HE R - SAWIER
e N BIRHIR - RIPMERT 2 #If I
Hiz HiEmER -

&
EUpSES
% 3]

al =

EEENEAHZERAWHRE
BERFEZ BBV HRELERR
PRVEL 2 #IE - ARTEAREZER
R A E M FE 33 Fat

MEQRRFERER

MEBARAXAEEZEN 2ERE -
“$Elﬁﬁ£% B E 2 B &
RAREERB TR - A7
Z—Eﬁ“%ﬂ% o RPARTEIRERS - BREF A
THEZECRZEETEEN -

R—EMBAR 2R ERIEFHES
R REET ARV BRE
N BEEGIEZILEEERILE - &
EANAAIMCERERR G AREE
NARRZRZSESE 2 ERRE

RAEN REEFEAVBHRREE
- REARBE IR HE
2 RER BRI ERE IR
Rz A TE/\ﬁﬁﬁ’\jt,mm
BRAREREBRRBEZS)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN »+ A TTIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FEGHBEKR#E
(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued) (c) MBLARRIFERERE)
Non-controlling interests (previously known as “minority JEIm RS (BB D AR R )
interests”) represent the equity in a subsidiary not BUWIERARAEZEIEEEGE 2
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and MBS AR MR - M A& E I Mgt it
in respect of which the Group has not agreed any HZERE A AR EEMAEIN
additional terms with the holders of those interests { F @Z{E$;’€l%aaﬁ'¢7%$§m
which would result in the Group as a whole having BENASRHEETEREZA
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests - RBFEBEHME - $§§lﬁ]
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For REBRAFLEIEBESHNE QR
each business combination, the Group can elect to ZAFAFEEML O mET £ IEE
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value AR o
or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the FEREZRGEREERBRZE
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately HmETEY  BARREES AEBML
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. BmOHZES AEBEEEANZT|
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group ZIHERERELRARERRES
are presented on the face of the consolidated 2 U EE TR N 51 VE FE 12 i i 2 B R
income statement and the consolidated statement of NAERFBEAZBERFANERE
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total loss BEREHEEBE S
and total comprehensive loss for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company.
In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a BRIEREW O EABELE  AQ
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see REEBBERARMBARI KA
note 2(h)(i)) unless the investment is classified as held Th 32 B AN RO 18 B (R T 3 2(h)
for sale. (ii)) 51 B o
(d) Jointly controlled entities (d) HEEFER
A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates HEZHEBABRBEAEE K AA
under a contractual arrangement between the Group RIEEM TR 2 BN LHEE 2
5

or Company and other parties, where the contractual
arrangement establishes that the Group or Company
and one or more of the other parties share joint control
over the economic activity of the entity.

MZzAa T RERNEE K
Tﬁ B LHEMAFEERE
ERE) A HEENEHIE -

?ﬁ’

N Bt g
HAI D)
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d)

Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

An investment in a jointly controlled entity is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost
of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(e) and (h)).
Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
whereas the Group’s share of post-acquisition post
tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entities
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the jointly controlled entity, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

2 FESHBE#®)

(d)

HEEZEHER(E)

REARZEFERZRE N IRERZE
FEASRAMBRE - RIEEDL
BB SCIRAATER - W ARES
WIRE R B Z AR E EF R
BHHRAFERRERA(INE)E
oz BEEELRE - B1R - ZRE
IARERERRERBNEEF
BERBEBER2EE  AREZKRE
BRZ EREE R AR (LM
it 2(e) K (h)) o (EfRTULEE B HIEE I AK
A2 EB AEERERKRERT]
ZWIB R IR IR B M F TR
EEERGEKRERER  MAE
BEARERR ZWBERTEHE
2 E KSR ERE ZEEERT
R o

HAREEGEEBEBBENARE
HEB S AIAKEZHES
MET  UWRIERE—-FER
HEMAEBEERERAREHNERE
HOA TE 3K HE E B S A AR RIRR
Sh o BhUET E - NEEZ SR
BEEARZRERAEEZREE
FERAEERAREH T2 F
BRE—#D 2 AR B REIER -

AEBMEHEARZGHBERETRS
EEZRERBENAEERHK
FIE B B 38 < A AR - MW
ARERBEEHEBRBTIAEERE
ERMERRIN  ERBERT » ZF
ERRNE MR FERR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of

()  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree; over

(i) the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is

recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a

bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or group of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 2(h)(ii).

On disposal of a cash generating unit or a jointly
controlled entity during the year, any attributable amount
of purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of
the profit or loss on disposal.

Property, plant and equipment
ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at

cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(h)(ii).

BB TTIIR)

2 FESFEHE#E

(e)

U

BE

BEEATMEZERE

rEEREBZATE  REK
BRI E R R
AEERBERWEBT AR
RS A E 2 B

—
=

(i)  AEENWUEETRUEERR
ENRENEERBEZAF
SFEZ R -

) ZR () BIZ AN R IB2E X
BRAZBEEE ZWE -

REEK AR RET R EEESR -
EBEHMEEANBERSIER
EReELSENNBECELENA
AIFEER G 1L & BEI 1 R B e P &
m) WASFERBANR(RHE
2(h)(ii)) ©

REALERSELEMHARE
HEER BAREERGEZ2EMNE
ENEREZ BEaRBRER -

M - BBRRE
MR - M RREEE JHRANR

2T E MR EEB(R M 20
(i) ) BIBR o
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f)

(C)]

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:

10.0% — 20.0%
10.0% — 33.3%
10.0% — 20.0%

Machinery
Furniture and fixtures
Office and computer

equipment
Leasehold 20.0% or over the
improvements remaining terms of

leases (whichever is
shorter)
Motor vehicles 20.0% — 30.0%
Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the estimated
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

2 FESHBE#®)

()

(C))

M BBRRE(E)

FEDRME - #ERREED 2
{31 B (2 P DR E R A T 31
S5 L 2L K AR 31 ) 84 (B L
B

13 10.0% — 20.0%

FRNMETEREE 10.0% — 33.3%

WAERE 10.0% — 20.0%
B

HEMEEE  200%HIRH T

TAER(LABE &

B 20.0% — 30.0%

BEZAERFHRENGER
B)gBFEMN -

WE - WRELREBREBE R REL
ERMEEZRE  AEFTHEEMN
SREFREFEARMELERE
EUYRBEXNEERERAEN
TR

EHEEE

HWARBEBELRHAEEREHR
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ERX-BEEEXRZHEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(9

(i)

(if)

Leased assets (Continued)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases.

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present value of the
minimum lease payments of such assets are included in
property, plant and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, are recorded as
obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is
provided at rates which write off the cost of the assets
over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is likely
the Group will obtain ownership of the asset, the life of
the asset, as set out in note 2(f). Impairment losses are
accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy
as set out in note 2(h)(ii). Finance charges implicit in the
lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an approximately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

BB TTIIR)

2

ERETEE#R)
(o) BHEEHE#)
() HEFFEBZRENE

(ii)

MAREREBEHESAEEEMAR
HEREER BRI AR & E
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REBEHENREZEE
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A% AEEREREEEAT
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Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

(iii) Operating lease charges

(h)

(i)

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Impairment of assets

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables

Investment in equity securities (other than investments
in subsidiaries, see note 2(h)(ii)) and other current and
non-current receivables that are stated at cost are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group about
one or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN »+ A TTIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below its
cost.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as detailed below:

— For investments in jointly controlled entities
recognised using the equity method (see
note 2(d)), the impairment loss is measured
by comparing the recoverable amount of the
investment as a whole with its carrying amount in
accordance with note 2(h)(ii). The impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount in accordance with note 2(h)(ii).
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

(i)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)

— For trade and other current receivables, the
impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition of these assets),
where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where financial
assets carried at amortised cost share similar
risk characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually assessed
as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets
which are assessed for impairment collectively are
based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective

group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful
but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses
for doubtful debts are recorded using an allowance
account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade and other receivables directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating to that
debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other changes
in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off directly are recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in
the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— investments in subsidiaries; and

— goodwill.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

(ii)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h)

(if)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on
a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

0

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see
note 2(h)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-
free loans made to related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at
cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k)

Convertible notes

Convertible notes that can be converted to equity share
capital at the option of the holder, where the number
of shares that would be issued on conversion and the
value of the consideration that would be received at
that time do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured as the present value of
the future interest and principal payments, discounted
at the market rate of interest applicable at the time of
initial recognition to similar liabilities that do not have
a conversion option. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the liability component
is recognised as the equity component. Transaction
costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial
instrument are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible notes
reserve until either the note is converted or redeemed.

If the note is converted, the convertible notes reserve,
together with the carrying amount of the liability
component at the time of conversion, is transferred
to share capital and share premium as consideration
for the shares issued. If the note is redeemed, the
convertible notes reserve is released directly to
accumulated losses.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

o

(m)

(n)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured
in accordance with note 2(q)(i), trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand and deposits with banks that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

(i)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme in Hong Kong and defined contribution
government pension schemes in The People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”).

Contributions to mandatory provident fund as required
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred.

The employees in the PRC are members of the
retirement benefit scheme organised by the government
in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute, based
on a certain percentage of payroll, to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme. Contributions to this retirement benefit
scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as incurred except to the extent that they are included
in the cost of inventories at the balance sheet date.

BB TTIIR)

2

TESTHRE®E)
(o) EEEF
() BHESEARREEAENRS

Z 175

e FETAL BHFFR AT
HFGRIRET 8l 2 R M SEE HE AR A
ZRANEBREBERE 2 FE
MEG o W RSB EREMEF
EEX - MREFRRZRETIE -

AEEREFERARIERTES
g WRPEARKME(HE])
RAFRERKBATRAEEE

REBEBEERHERE T EEOIR
E o mEHERESER 2 HRR
EEREERBRAR/MAX

RPBEZEEATEBFEN R
BN EIZKE - AEBARS
B2ET A LRARKENGSF
HER REMNRRES - AKE
BRARKENFE 2E—EERR
REFBIVE L AR 5K - MR IRTR
MErBIEH 2 RN ELRERS
AR EARBEEBREFA
FERARERR -

g

Annual Report 2010/11 4 # 4k
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 & ¥ A B A+



Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

(ii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share-based payment reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black
Scholes model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the probability
that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for
the year of the review, unless the original employee
expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payment reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share-based
payment reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the option expires (when it is released directly to
accumulated losses).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account
if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

BB TTIIR)

2

B H R AR M

TESTHEMR)

(p)

Fria B

FANME ﬁa%“%mﬁﬁkkm
BHEERBE EE -  2HBER
BEEREEERBEBECZHNER
R HEWEREMmEE KR SRR
FEERE=RERIEEAR - A
EZBRT BERESIREM
2EW S EERNERER -

B HIBE A 1R IR 4 9 R B 3R

MR GEH B ERHRAB DB
IHENE 2 BEEABE - AR
BB 4F ¥ 2 B AT BB R 2 £
B -

EETBEEERBRE DB AN
MRERNERERES - ARE
BERIEVBRERECEERAR
REEEEME B2 Z5 - BRI
HMBREENB AR ABRAEBELKR
PRANERRESL -

BETFHMRFIIMER - HATEER &
Xr%mﬁﬂufﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%

AR EEEHEEERAMBE
EFHBEEE - I X HERATNBY
NEBEMELEZEERBEEZR
RERBAF BIEAR L IRE ER
ﬁ BrEREMELEE  WaRSER
WBER — RIS R F — FERRR
E%ﬁ% 0 78 HA & 7E TR HA B (o) /]
MR TR EBE R — R EER
BEEMEEZHBEREMES
SR IR - EE T
EERHEREZBEEATFER

FRCHEBEREAMELE 2K
EMEEER  RBALNR—%
Bl Bz S = mE—H ISR
ME—ERGEREE  LEHE
FEREA El BB e 2 8
fRER - GRECHEEENA
TR o

4

Annual Report 2010/11 4 # 4k
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 & ¥ A B A+



2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(P)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are
not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(p)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the
Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to
reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair
value of the guarantee (being the transaction price,
unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated)
is initially recognised as deferred income within other
payables and accrued charges. Where consideration is
received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received or receivable,
an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on
initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 2(q)(ii) if and when
(i) it becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee
will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii)
the amount of that claim on the Group is expected to
exceed the amount currently carried in other payables
and accrued charges in respect of that guarantee
i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated
amortisation.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected
to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

(ii)

()

(i)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss
as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue from the distribution sale of cosmetic and skin
care products and the sale of other health and beauty
products is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in
time when the customer has accepted the goods and
the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the provision of beauty and slimming
services

Revenue from the provision of beauty and slimming
services is recognised in profit or loss in proportion
to the stage of completion of the service contract.
Revenue is also recognised in profit or loss in respect of
the deferred income upon expiry of the service contract.

Franchise fees income

Franchise fees income is recognised on an accrual
basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreements.

Management and consultancy fee income

Management and consultancy fee income is recognised
when services are rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transactions dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(s)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Balance sheet items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired
on or after 1 January 2005, are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign
operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated
at the foreign exchange rate the applied at the date of
acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantive period of time to
get ready for its intended use of sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are interrupted or complete.

BB TTIIR)

2

TESTHEMR)

(s)

®

SNERE (F)

SNBERBEHIRER S A ZEREE
ZEZRBESET  EEABRRA
B(BERGAER-_STRAF—A—
Ak R 2 BINRIE IR B M
EEZAB)REEAZEZRRES
BT TEAZEREZRERAEME
[ U o B AR - X B S R BE R A
DR AHEANR_FTTAF—
A—BRRBZENEBZRE M
EEZBHERKESINERERE
Az ERBE o

RHEEBINEBRER - BAZEINE
B2 R ERZENER LG8
FREREN D ERES

BEKE

EERRENKE HBELEFR
ERBEAATAEREREREEMNR
RNEEZEERANBERERZ
REEZRAZ 8D - AufEE
AR ELE BRI S8 o

MEEMXREERADKEL
AREEEAREREERERA L
EREMBLEZ RSO KSR - B
ERANERCRZEEREEZ
AR Z =80 - HB/EREREE
A FETETE A& S Al h AR AR AT &4
FBZRBOEHP LK BE
AR 2 B RIBE 2 R IE SIS LE o

N4

Annual Report 2010/11 4 # 4k
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 & ¥ A B A+



2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u)

Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if:

()  the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control the
Group or exercise significant influence over the
Group in making financial and operating policy
decisions, or has joint control over the Group;

(i)  the Group and the party are subject to common
control;

(i)  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a
close family member of such an individual, or is an
entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party
referred to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which
is for the benefit of employees of the Group or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #&
SHEI)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B

BB TTIIR)

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(v) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each

segment item reported in the consolidated financial

statements, are identified from the financial information

provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive

management for the purposes of allocating resources

to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not

aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the

segments have similar economic characteristics and

are similar in respect of the nature of products and

services, the type or class of customers, the methods

used to distribute the products or provide the services,

and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating

segments which are not individually material may be

aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

3 Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued two revised HKFRSs, a number of
amendments to HKFRSs and two new Interpretations that are

first effective for the current accounting period of the Group

and the Company. Of these, the following developments are

relevant to the consolidated financial statements:

—  HKFRS 3 (revised), Business combinations

— HKAS 27 (revised), Consolidated and separate financial

statements

—  Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)

— HKInterpretation 5, Presentation of financial statements

— Classification by the borrower of a term loan that

contains a repayment on demand clause
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Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

These developments have resulted certain changes in
accounting policies but none of these changes have had
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements for
the years presented.

HKFRS 3 (revised) introduces a number of changes in the
accounting for business combinations occurring since 1
April 2010. Changes affect the initial measurement of non-
controlling interests, the accounting for transaction costs,
the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a
contingent consideration and business combinations achieved
in stages. These changes will impact the amount of goodwill
recognised, the reported results in the period that a business
combination occurs, and the future reported results.

HKAS 27 (revised) requires any losses incurred by a non-
wholly owned subsidiary will be allocated between the
controlling and non-controlling interests (previously known
as “minority interests”) in proportion to their interests in
that entity, even if this results in a deficit balance within the
consolidated equity being attributable to the non-controlling
interests. Previously, if the allocation of losses to the non-
controlling interests would have resulted in a deficit balance,
the losses were only allocated to the non-controlling
interests if the non-controlling interests were under binding
obligation to make good the losses. Furthermore, HKAS 27
(revised) requires that a change in the ownership interest of
a subsidiary without loss of control is accounted for as an
equity transaction. Therefore, such a transaction will have
no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss.
The revised standard also changes the accounting for the
loss of control of a subsidiary. If the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the transaction will be accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with any remaining
interests retained by the Group being recognised at fair value
as if reacquired. In accordance with the transitional provisions
in HKAS 27 (revised), these changes in accounting policy
have been applied prospectively from 1 April 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN »+ A TTIIR)

4 Turnover 4

The principal activities of the Group are the distribution sale
of cosmetic and skin care products, provision of beauty
and slimming services and sale of other health and beauty
products.

Turnover represents the invoiced value of goods supplied
to customers, net of discounts, returns, value added tax or
other sales taxes; service income from provision of beauty
and slimming services, net of discounts and franchise fees
income. The amount of each significant category of revenue
recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:

Distribution sale of cosmetic and D E LA &
skin care products EEEM

Provision of beauty and slimming services® $R{#tER &2 R "
Sale of other health and beauty products — #5% HEh{RIE R ERE R

Franchise fees income MEEEEBIA
# Included in the revenue from provision of beauty and slimming

services was an amount of HK$35,242,000 (2010: HK$38,178,000)
arising from realisation of deferred income upon expiry of the
service contracts.

EXA

AEBEZTEXB AN HHEE LM NES
Em - RHEBREREIRG K HE MR
REETEMR -

ERBERAEFPEHCEMZBRERE
i~ RE - BERSIEMBER - UKk
KERMHER LAREIRY 2 IR W AR
FIEMBEIEBRA - FA - RNEXE
RZEXTBHERIKESRMAT

2011 2010
—E——F —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT F&ET
556,302 403,222
64,621 66,349
3,835 1,154
2,779 —
627,537 470,725

# FFARBRHEEIARBEBRE 2 W E

2 & %35,242,000/8 u(Z T — T F ¢
38,178,000/ 7T) A RB & L& m & 235
PRI A FTE & -
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Other revenue and net income/(loss) 5 HaWBERWA (EIE)EE

Other revenue

Management and consultancy fee income
Interest income
Others

Other net income/(loss)

Subsidy income from the PRC government

Compensation received from landlord on
early termination of an operating lease
of property

Reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables (note 18(b))

Net foreign exchange loss

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Others

2010
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET
Hih 2
CRENE I EALON 1,276
FLEWA 194
E 784
2,054
Hal A/ (B18) B8
Fh B B 8 B U A 908
FIRRRIEMEZ

CEHE g EFIWE

ZfEE 2,494
FEWE 5 3R IE R B B 18 ]

(Bt 18(b)) 233
P& 5 BB F5E (1,804)
HEYE  WERRE WS

(E518) 55 (1,665)
E (249)

(83)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B #& R =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

6 Loss before taxation

Loss before taxation is arrived after charging:

BB TTIIR)

BRBLATE 1R

BB AR RS H T 5% AE

2011 2010
—E——fF —ET-FF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
(a) Finance costs: (@) RAERAN ¢
Interest on bank loans IRITEFRFE 740 1,181
Interest on convertible notes AR R 2 FI 8 583 -
Finance charges on obligations under BMEMEEAE
finance leases %5 A 14 67
1,337 1,248
(b) Staff costs: (b) E THA :
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e 2MEHEHMER 45,713 42,211
Contributions to defined contribution ATEHRFRKETEI 2
retirement plans R 6,052 4,912
Equity-settled share-based payment BRI RN RIHEE
expenses (note 27) (BzE27) 7,921 —
59,686 47,123
(c) Other items: (c) EfbIHE :
Cost of inventories sold and services BEGFEMERERS
provided* B 536,634 389,006
Auditor’s remuneration ZHEN BN & 916 823
Depreciation on property, plant and YIZE - 23 KRR
equipment e 8,835 10,836
Provision for impairment losses on VERIEY =B
— trade receivables — EWE FIE 150 —
— other receivables — Hfth I FRIE 5,739 4,309
— deposits paid — BEfN%S 2,453 994
— amounts due from related parties — JEUREEE A L FRIE - 4,083
Write-off of other receivables A 8 Wk TE 8 228 1,013
Operating lease rentals: minimum lease KEHEHES - RIEEN
payments He
— property and display locations — VMERETUE
rentals e 20,924 20,556
— other equipment — HARE 88 78

Cost of inventories sold and services provided includes
HK$2,114,000 (2010: HK$2,218,000) relating to staff costs and
depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above or in note 6(b) for each of

these types of expenses.

* CEFEMERHZREKXACIEERHE

TRARYTE 22,114,000 T(—E—F
F 12,218,000/ 7T) © e RIS B
T BIE A L SCs R 6(b) 5 B 5 2 48
R4 -
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7

Income tax in the consolidated income 7 HZEAEWBRAZHAERH

statement
(@) Taxation in the consolidated income statement (a)
represents:
Current tax — PRC Enterprise EHBE — hELE
Income Tax st
Provision for the year (note 25(a)) FNEAE (I3 25(a))
(Over)/under-provision in respect of BEFE (BERE) BE
prior years ~E
Deferred tax EAER E

Origination and reversal of temporary EARBRERNERE

differences (note 25(b)(i)) (Kt5E25(b)())
Income tax expense FTiSFim X

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made for
2011 (2010: HK$NIl) as the companies in the Group
either have sustained tax losses or no assessable
profits for Hong Kong Profits Tax purposes. Taxation
for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at
the appropriate rate of taxation ruling in relevant tax
jurisdictions.

FEWERAZBIEE -

2010
—T-FF

HK$°000
TET

608

2,154

REEFGHME - BN A EE
B 72 AL 4 6519 BAIE A58 SR R Y
B QA mE B — S
BHERERCE-FF: DB
)« BV LLONIE A 72 BRI
AR A AR AT 2 B
ol -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B #& R =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN »+ A TTIIR)

7 Income tax in the consolidated income 7 HZEWBERAZFEBHR#)
statement (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and (b) FEHHXHEREARRITEZSY
accounting loss at the applicable tax rates: HEIE YR
2011 2010
—2——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Loss before taxation B e A5 18 (45,530) (26,668)
Less: Share of (losses)/profits of B FE(R AR E
jointly controlled entities (EB#8),/ &F (483) 2,858
(45,047) (29,526)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, BRERIEE 2R BIE
calculated at the rates applicable RERANE BTG
to profits in the tax jurisdictions AR 2 B2
concerned WMEGHE (6,829) (3,492)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TR IR 2 R F & 5,402 1,573
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEARTBRAZ BT E (276) (408)
Tax effect on temporary differences RHERE R Z 5 2
not recognised -z (1,066) (1,276)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RERKRBARBEBEZ
not recognised MBTE 5,548 5,428
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BRBRTAERTIEEEZ
previously not recognised MBRE (134) (147)
(Over)/under-provision in respect of BAFE(BERE),
prior years BETE @) 66
Others Hh (138) 410
Actual tax expense BERBIERX 2,503 2,154
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Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the disclosure
requirement of section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance is as follows:

Salaries, allowances and
Directors’ fees benefits in kind
gzhe #e BURENNE

2010 2010
-E-EE ~E-3E

—< % -7 %

HK§ 000 HK8 000
TET TET

Executive directors YirEs
Or. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirey & EHiEL
Mr. Cheung Ka Heng, Frankie ~ FEB%&%

Independent non-executive BUkyfiEs
directors

Mr. Li Kuo Hsing SEALE
M. Hong Po Kui, Martin REHRE
Ms. Hui Yat Lam F-Ext

Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2010: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other three (2010: three) individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other emoluments Fe kEAMmME
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R
Share-based payments SZENEN

8 EEME

REBEEBRRGAFE 161G RERTEM

BB EEMEMT -
Retirement scheme
contributions Share-based payments Total
BRGEHE PULES

2010 210 2010

5% E-%% 5-%E

HK8'000 HK$000 HK8'000

FAT AL TEL

12 - 2,585

12 - 612

- - 40

- - 0

- - 60

24 - 3,32

9 EREHAL

hESERHFALT ME(ZE-FF:

MB)RES

& B ERKE

8o BHI=HR(ZT—FTF: =H)ALZ

& rEmT

2010
—E-EF
HK$’000
FET

2,142
34

2,176
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 0175 3R 3% fif &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN »+ A TTIIR)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EEHFALHE
(Continued)
The emoluments of the three (2010: three) individuals with the ZR(ZTE-ZTF  ZR)ReF AT 2]
highest emoluments are within the following bands: BN THIEHE -
2011 2010
—2——F —T-FF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AEL
HK$ Nil — HK$1,000,000 T I E 1,000,000 47T 2 3
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T % 1,500,000 %8 7T 1 —

10 Loss attributable to owners of the
Company

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company
includes a loss of approximately HK$66,781,000 (2010:
HK$50,374,000) which has been dealt with in the financial
statements of the Company.

11 Loss per share
(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$46,098,000 (2010: HK$24,957,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of approximately 93,838,000 shares (2010: 80,775,000
shares) in issue during the year.

The weighted average number of shares for the
purposes of calculating the basic loss per share has
been retrospectively adjusted for both years for the
ten-to-one share consolidation which took place on 2
November 2010 (see note 28(c)(ii)) and the rights issue
on 3 December 2010 (see note 28(c)(iii)).

10 AQFRFERAREEE

KRB EANEBRGEBEBEENAR
RIB TSR K BRI 2 F518 4966,781,000 8
TT(ZZT—F4F : 50,374,000 7C) °

11 BRERE

(a)

BRELXEE

BREAEBE  DNERAQARES
A JE 15 55 18 49 46,098,00078 TT(—
T — T 4F 24,957,000 7T ) &
FANBBTZ L BB MEFHH
#793,838,000f% (= T — T & :
80,775,000 P& )&t o

MEFEREFEERENABE
R NEFEHBERR —T—FF
+—RAZB(RME28(c)i) E1T2
THRAEHB—BZBMPEsER =
Z-TFE+ - A=H(RHE28(c)
(iii)) #ETT 2 A AE B AR EE -
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11 Loss per share (Continued) 11 BREBR@
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) EBREBEEE
The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March BB ER 1T 16 B I N T i =4
2011 and 2010 was the same as the basic loss per BEER#EETE WEE_ZT——
share as the assumed exercise of the outstanding share FR-E—ZFFZA=Z1+—HILF
options and convertible notes has anti-dilutive effect. ErzEREsEERERENRER
HEE -
12 Segment reporting 12 2 EHRE

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors that are
used to make strategic decisions. The Executive Directors
review the Group’s financial information mainly from business
lines prospective. Accordingly, the Group’s operating
segments are:

(i) Distribution sale of cosmetic and skin care products

(i) Provision of beauty and slimming services

(i)  Franchise operations (including sale of health, beauty
and related products to franchised shops)

(iv)  Sale of other health and beauty products

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of reportable
segment results. This measurement basis excludes certain
other revenue, other net income/(loss), finance costs, share
of (losses)/profits of jointly controlled entities and unallocated
expenses.

Segment assets mainly exclude certain property, plant and
equipment and other assets that are managed on a central
basis. Segment liabilities mainly exclude current income tax
liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities that are
managed on a central basis.

EEEBCRBENTETENBIAEL R
MREZMEEELENE - MITESE
RRXERAEEHNAREZHHER -
At AERBZEEDER -

() DHEHEECHREBE®
(i) REEARAERYE

(i) MBAEXB(BERMBSIEER
HERRE  XBAREMMERES)

(v) SHEEMRENZTEM

HITESRA 2My BEEEETRLE
DHEZRR - FFEEETBREE THMWK
# - WA (BR)FE - BmEKRAE -
FEIEREEHER(BE),  BFNERDER
BT

DHEEETETBERETYE  BEMR
BhEMETFEREZEE - NBEAGETE
TEEEHMERAE  BEEHBEEER
HipEeh BBz 8E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ($& 3 & 85 - 5 AB TR ) 1

12 Segment reporting (Continued) 12 oEER (&)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (a) PEXE EERERE
Distribution sale of cosmetic ~ Provision of beauty and Franchise Sale of other health and
and skin care products slimming services operations beauty products Total
MEEEMRERER  RUZARGEER e HERBRRRXAER af

2010 2010 2010 2010 2010
“E-EF ZE-EF R K FTE
FK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS000

FET FET FET 7T 7T
Reportable segment revenug from ~ S1E0ZF 2 A28
external customers e 403222 66,349 - 1,154 470,725
Reportable segment results PEE 6419 (24,739) - (1,436) (19,756)
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ AARATER (9,69
Unallocated corporate other revenue - AARATE Mz 1,368
Loss from operations ey (28,278)
Finance costs BERA (1,248)
Share of (osses)/profits of jointly ~~ EAE A
contraled entites (B8)/ &7 2858
Loss before taxation hiagR (26,668)
Taxafion i (2.154)
Loss after taxation hikEE (28822)
Provision for impaiment losses on BB ER R
— trade receivables —ENES3E - - - - -
— depostts paid —Bfifks - - - 636 636
— amounts due from related —EEEAL
parties By - 4,083 - - 4,083
Reversal of impaiment loss on~—~~ ERESTERESE
trade receivables Em (233 - - - (233)
Write-off of other recevables A RYGERS - 21 - - 21
Depreciation it 1893 8,026 - 17 10836
Segment assets AREE
— Property, plant and —nz BER
equipment B 4,867 15,764 - 67 20,698
— Interests in jointly controled ~ — AEFESIEE
entities 32 - 5592 - - 5502
~ Other assels —EfEE 74,880 2,971 - 3441 105,202
Unallocated corporate assets RARLTEE 22,660
Total assefs AEGE 164,242
Seqment liabiftes HEBE (34,179) (26,677) - 590) 61,439)
Unallocated corporate liabilties ~ AARATEE (17,029)
Total libilties aE8E (78.464)
Additions to segment non-curent S ESERSEE
assets HE 3655 349% - 53 7,004
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12 Segment reporting (Continued)
(b) Geographical information
The Group’s revenue from external customers and

information about its non-current assets by geographical
locations are as follows:

The PRC
I

Revenue from external MR FZ
customers ey 432,772
Non-current assets ERBEE

(c) Major customers

No customer accounted for 10% or more of the total
revenue for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010.

2010
—T%F

HK$'000
THET

12 78ER =)

(b) ibiHER
REBNFEFP 2B RN BBHEIE
MBEEZERGZMELE )0
T

Hong Kong Total

BB CE

2010 2010
—F-%F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET
37,953 470,725

(c) EEEF

Bz Z2——FR-_ZT—ZFF=HA
—t+—BHILFE  TEEF(hYE
W@EE10% s A L o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 Y% - HBERRE
(a) The Group (a) Z*&£HE
Office and
Furniture computer Leasehold
and fixtures equipment improve- Motor
Machinery BRE BAER ments vehicles Total
W EEkE Bl BENERHB "B it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TAT AT TET

Cost: B

At 1 April 2009 RZZENEMA—A 17,432 3,861 6,841 29,793 5,324 63,251
Exchange adjustments [ i f§% - - - - 2 2
Additions NE 154 753 738 3,788 1,776 7,209
Disposals e (1,456) - (603) (7,438) (525) (10,022)
At 31 March 2010 R=E-FF=A=1-H 16,130 4,614 6,976 26,143 6,577 60,440
At 1 April 2010 RZZ-ZTFMA-A 16,130 4,614 6,976 26,143 6,577 60,440
Exchange adjustments [ 3 % 168 92 148 703 343 1,454
Additions NE 2,063 18 360 10,062 3,027 15,530
Disposals HE - - (320) (10,748) (567) (11,635)
At 31 March 2011 RZZ—F=f=1-81 18,361 4724 7,164 26,160 9,380 65,789
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The Group (continued)

Accumulated
depreciation:

At 1 April 2009

Exchange adjustments

Charge for the year

Written back on
disposals

At 31 March 2010

At 1 April 2010

Exchange adjustments

Charge for the year

Written back on
disposals

At 31 March 2011

Carrying amount:

At 31 March 2011

At 31 March 2010

REHE

R-ZFFNFNA-A
ke
EniE

HEH
&o

RoF-FEZAZt-R

RZZ-2FNA—-H
5
FREE

HER
&o

R-E-——F=A=1-H

FHE:

R-E-——F=A=1-R

Ro3-FEZA=t-R

13 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

13 W% - BB RRE®)

(@) *=£EE)
Office and
Furniture computer Leasehold
and fixtures  equipment improve- Motor
Machinery BRR BAER ments vehicles Total
e BELE ElRE HENRES RE aft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT AT AT AT T
10,040 2,547 4,451 17,674 2,010 36,722
1 - - - 1 2
2,159 476 773 6,286 1,142 10,836
(971) - (327) (6,538) (461) (8,297)
11,229 3,028 4,897 17,422 2,692 39,263
11,229 3,028 4,897 17,422 2,692 39,263
111 49 84 384 129 757
1,935 478 715 4,306 1,401 8,835
- - (308) (10,697) (511) (11,516)
13,275 3,550 5,388 11,415 3,71 37,339
5,086 1,174 1,776 14,745 5,669 28,450
4,901 1,591 2,079 8,721 3,885 21,177

At 31 March 2011, the carrying amount of the Group’s
machinery held under finance leases was HK$Nil (2010:

HK$2,079,000).

RZZBE——F=A=+—H AEERE
MEHERAIRELEAER/STAT
—ZT T4 :2,079,00087T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

14 Goodwill
Cost: AN :
At 1 April and 31 March REOA—RBAR=A=
Accumulated impairment: R2IEE
At 1 April and 31 March REOAA—BAR=HA=
Carrying amount: BRMEIME :
At 31 March R=A=+—8H

Goodwill is accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies as set out in note 2(e).

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to three individual cash generating units
(CGUs) comprising three subsidiaries, each engaged in the
distribution sale of cosmetic and skin care products, the
provision of beauty and slimming services and the provision
of management consultancy services, as follows:

Distribution sale of cosmetic and skin care 7 #§#E (b R #EE

products E
Provision of beauty and slimming services 12 ER & 4 82 iR 75
Provision of management consultancy R EEEA
services Pk 75

14 HE
The Group
KEH

2011 2010
- —T-ITf
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
+—B 271 271
+—B 21 21
250 250

B TIIRM FE 2(e) el 2 NEE 5 R
N

SUBEARNE  BECHRIDEE=1E
H=RAMBARMEAKZREELEM (R
SELEM]) FHBRFNRINESH
HEMHMEEBE®R  RHEXERMER
BARIRBERZARY - FB0OT

Goodwill
(GRS

2011 2010
—E——F T —EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET
37 37
140 140
73 73
250 250

N4
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14 Goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period.

Key assumptions used for the value-in-use calculations are:

— EF%
— B

— Gross margin
— Discount rate

Management determined the budgeted gross margin
based on past performance and its expectation for market
development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks.

15 Investments in and amounts due from/to
subsidiaries

Unlisted shares, at cost
Less: impairment losses

B - BB ET1E

Amounts due from subsidiaries
Less: impairment losses

B - BB ET1R

Amounts due to subsidiaries

The amounts due from or to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest free and repayable an demand.

FELETRAD - AR

& Yo Pl 8 2 R RIR

ANLIENCIE S

14 BE %)

ReEEBEM 2 ATIRDE S RRIREREER
BHEETE - WHEAHE AR BRRERE
Bz AF M BREFEL ZRER
2R -

EREEFETEMAZEERERR

2011 and 2010

S i
—z-%5
5% — 15%

12%

EEBREBEBERRMEUTISER A
HMETREEMNEK - MEMRZMREXS
BiAD > WRBREFERER

15 RIBRARIZRERER &
3 H B 2 R RKOR

The Company
ARTH
2010
—T-FF
HK$000
FET

3,664
(3,660)

128,614
(70,000)

58,614

3,540

e s FE TP B &
NBHBREER -

BRAREER - 28
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #r& 8175 3R 3% b &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 28BS + HABITTHIR)

15 Investments in and amounts due from/to
subsidiaries (Continued)

At 31 March 2011, the Company had direct or indirect
interests in the following subsidiaries, which are private
limited companies or, if established/incorporated outside
Hong Kong, have substantially the same characteristics as a
Hong Kong private limited company. The class of shares held
is ordinary unless otherwise stated. The particulars of these
subsidiaries at 31 March 2011 are set below:

Place of  Particulars of issued

15 RMBARZREREY &
13 Bf B8 X R FRIR (4

RZZB——F=A=+—H ARFEE
FHEER TN E LR (R/IALTAR
KA BB AIMNKSL MR - BIASE
HEBMA LT ARMERZZ ERHE)HE
Bk - RRAERAN - FARROER R
EE - ZEMBARR -_T——%=A
=t—BZFBWT

Proportion of
ownership interest
FRERENLA
Direct Indirect  Principal activities

B% HE  IERE

Name of company operations and paid up capital
ARER ExuE  ERORMERARE
Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands:
REBRLREHMAL -
Sau San Tong Holdings Inc. Hong Kong 1,000 shares of US$1 each
B 1,000 R EHEE 1 XK
Sau San Tong China Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 each
B 1RAE1ZTRA
Smartime International Investment Ltd. Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 each
AR RERRAA (35 1REE 1 FT Rl
Sau San Tong China Investment Ltd. Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each
30 100 REBRAE 1 ZT LR
Wise Fortune Holdings Corp. Hong Kong 10 shares of US$1 each
B 10REREE 1 XL RIA
Sau San Tong China Development Ltd. Hong Kong 10 shares of USS1 each
(3 10REREE 1 ZT LR
Gold Lane International Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each
(30 100 EREE 1 XL R
Victory Assets Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each

& 100 REREE 1 XL &R

100% - Investment holding
REER

100% - Investment holding
REZR

100% - Investment holding
REER

100% - Investment holding
RERR

100% - Investment holding
REER

100% - Investment holding
REER

100% - Inactive
gEex

100% - Investment holding
REER

Vg
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15 Investments in and amounts due from/to 15 REBATIZREREWR &

subsidiaries (Continued) SEIENG E NG ),
Proportion of
ownership interest
Place of  Particulars of issued BERERENLA
Name of company operations and paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AR EXuE ERORMERARE =43 BE  IEER

Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands: (Continued)

REBRLESIMAL : (8)

Brilliant Concept Co. Ltd. Hong Kong 1 share of US$1 each - 100%  Investment holding
B 1REE ZT2RIA RERR
Bright Rainbow Investments Ltd. Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each - 100%  Provision of management consultancy
Bk 100REREE 1 ZTLRIA service
RUEBREARE
Concept de beauté Limited (note (i) (472 /7)) Hong Kong 10 shares of USS1 each 100% - Inactive
B 10REE1ET2RIA fEex
L'institut Sau San tong de la recherche scientifiqus ~ Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each 100% - Inactive
de beauté (en France) a Limited B 100 REE 1 £ 2BH omes
fnote () Mz )
Gold Platform Limited (note () (47 7)) Hong Kong 10 shares of US$1 each 100% —  Investment holding
(35 10REE1 ZT2RIA RERR
Sau San Tong (Shanghai) Limited (note (i) Hong Kong 1,000 shares of US$1 each - 50%  Investment holding and provision of
(W) B 1000 REE 1 £ 2R 1A management consultancy service
RESRRREEREARY
Sau San Tong Healthy Trim Institute (Hangzhou) Hong Kong 100 shares of US1 each - 5%  Investment holding
Limited B 100REE 1£T 2RI REZR
Sau San Tong (Shanghai) Development Ltd. (note (ij)  Hong Kong 10 shares of US$1 each - 50% Inactive
(Wi ip) Bk 10RERE1 ZT2RIA EEdE
Sau San Tong (Beijing) Investments Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each - 100%  Investment holding
B 100/kEE 1 X2 &R REER
Machiko Enterprises Inc. Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each - 100%  Investment holding
(3 100RE(E 1 ETLRIA RERR
Sau San Tong Healthy Trim Institute (Shenzhen) Hong Kong 100 shares of US$1 each - 51%  Investment holding
Limited B 100/kEE 1 X2 KA RESR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B8R R MizE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 28BS + HABITTHIR)

15 Investments in and amounts due from/to 15 RIfBARIZREREKR FE
subsidiaries (Continued) SEMERPNGECELE 2
Proportion of
ownership interest
Place of  Particulars of issued ERERENLA
Name of company operations and paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
ARER EXBE  CRORMRREREE E& BE  IZEER
Incorporated in Hong Kong:
REBZMAT :
Sau San Tong Beauty Figure Ltd. Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKS1 each - 100%  Sale of health and beauty products
BAEERAT B 10,000 REMREE 1 B2 Ri HERRRZREm
Sau San Tong China Holdings Ltd. (formerly known ~ Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Inactive
as Sau San Tong Health Food Ltd.) ) 100 REREE 1 BT RN Emex

BaERERRERAT
(HRESERERRARLA)

Sau San Tong Medical Cosmetology Healthy Trim Hong Kong 18,750 shares of HKS1 each - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
Institute Ltd. (30 18,750 RERAE 1 B2 fkh REXARSRRY
BaeRexTERIE
FBsLERAR
Sau San Tong Medical Cosmetology Healthy Trim ~— Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKS1 each - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
Institute (TST) Lid. (3 10000 B REE 1 B b RUXBREBRE
BAERRERRRIRRET L
(RWE)BRAA
Sau San Tong Medical Cosmetology Healthy Trim ~ Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
Institute (Causeway Bay) Ltd. B 100REREE BT &R REZAREBRS
BAEERERRRIRRETL
(HEE)ERAR
Sau San Tong Management Ltd. Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Provision of management consultancy
5 2EEERAT B 100REREE 1 BT RA senvice
RUEELARE
SST Advertising Agency Ltd. Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKS1 each - 100%  Provision of advertising agency service
Bt REREARAT Bk 10000 BB REE 1 B b RUBSRERE
Highlight International Trading Limited Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Inactive
LRERBSERAA Bt 100RE{E 1 BT RiA frex
Sau San Tong Medical Cosmetology Healthy Trim ~ Hong Kong 100 shares of HK$1 each - 100%  Inactive
Institute (Shatin) Limited B 100fkEE 1 BT R EEex

BHERRXRRRERRETO(VE)ARLR
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15

Investments in and amounts due from/to

subsidiaries (Continued)

15 RIBARIZRERER,
B B 2 R FRIE ()

Proportion of
ownership interest
Place of  Particulars of issued REEERILA
Name of company operations and paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
AR5 ¥R DRORERRARE ER BE  IZER
Incorporated in Hong Kong: (Continued)
REBAMAT : ()
Winic Management Limited (note (i) Hong Kong 1 share of HKS1 each - 100%  Investment holding
ANERERAR ML) (305 1REE BT RIA REZR
Winner Sight Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of HKS1 each - 100%  Inactive
ERERAA 30 L BEE 1 R RE grex
Incorporated in the PRC:
RAGR iy
EE-®BERBRAE frotes () (HE ) The PRC  Registered capital US§150,000 - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
qﬂ HRAR150000E T REZARGERE
HERGBICHERRLT The PRC  Registered capital USS5,000,000 - 51%  Distribution sale of cosmetic and
i FHE5,000,000% skin care products
HERENAREEED
TEESRE(RINERL The PRC  Registered capital HK$3,500,000 - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
* &7 3,500,000 87 REXAREERS
EEAEZE(NARA The PRC  Registered capital HK$3,500,000 - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
fF HRAR3,500,000 87 REXEREERS
FREXA (IR ERLF The PRC  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of beauty and slimming services
H & 71,000,000 57 REEZAREERS
SRTEBERFNERD note () () The PRC  Registered capital of RMB500,000 - 100%  Inactive
Giles AR AR 5000007 frex
Baz(LB)AEERFHERAT The PRC  Registered capital of RMB2,014,151 - 100%  Provision of franchise services
fnote ()M ) hE HERARE2014151 RENBA RS
FRESEEEERDA hote () (W) The PRC  Registered capital of RMB500,000 - 100%  Provision of franchise services
B &R AR 5000007 REMES (R
Note: HaE -
(i) These subsidiaries were established by the Group in the year (i) ZEWBARBHAEERHE T ——F
ended 31 March 2011. ZR=+—HIEFEKIL °
(i) As the Group controls the board of directors of these entities, they (i) BHRAEERFHZEERE2EEE TA
are accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Group’s control REFBRFEZIESEMEAMRBATA
over them. R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

16 Interests in and amounts due from/to
jointly controlled entities

Share of net liabilities ELBEFE
Amount due from a jointly controlled entity & U 2t [F14% %1 & 8% 7718

Amounts due to jointly controlled entities  FE{< £ [F 15 # F 52 7B

The amounts due from or to jointly controlled entities
are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

The amounts due to jointly controlled entities have been
classified as under current liabilities at 31 March 2011.
The corresponding balance at 31 March 2010, previously
net off with the amount due from a jointly controlled entity
in 2010, has been reclassified to conform with current
year’s presentation. The directors consider that this revised
presentation more appropriately reflects the nature of the
balance.

16 RARZEFHIER 2 EHEKER

/A HE RSB 2 FE

The Group
rEH

2011 2010
—E2——F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(919) (436)
6,028 6,028
5,109 5,692
2,996 2,890

e S U RE S B R FUR A B
B MEE EERE

RZE——F=A=+—HEMNEXREZEH
BB HEDHEIBERBEE R
—ZEF=R=+—HBZHEBEHRCRBTN
BR_Z-ZFRKLRZEHIERRIE)D
WEMDBNBRAFER2INE—H - &
ERR - MELET2EEG R
ZARE o

Al

®
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16

Interests in and amounts due from/to 16 RAREZEHER ERZREW

jointly controlled entities (Continued)

ARSI EE o REE)

Details of the jointly controlled entities at 31 March 2011 are R-E——FZA=t+— B HBEHE
as follows: SEFIEWT ¢
Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ ownership interest
operations Particulars of issued RERERNA
Name of joint venture HMALHSG/  and paid up capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
RELELE Y BRTRBRRAGHE E# B IEER
Wealthy Sound Limited Hong Kong/ 10,000 shares of HK$1 each - 50%  Investment holding
FBERAT HongKong 10,000 REREE 1T 2R 1A REER
BR/ER
ByesEA(4R)EBAT  ThePRO/The PRC  Registered capital of US$150,000 - 50%  Provision of beauty and simming services
hE/f HRER 15000057 RUSEREBRS
Summary financial information on jointly controlled entities — HEEHEE — AEECERER 2
Group’s effective interest: BERBE
The Group
rE
2010
—E-TF
HK$’000
FAET
Non-current assets EmENEE 3,295
Current assets MEVEE 5,472
Current liabilities mEAE (8,578)
Non-current liabilities EmEafE (625)
Net liabilities BEFHE (436)
Income WA 9,449
Expenses M (5,966)
Income tax expense S (625)
(Losses)/profits for the year ER(ER) BT 2,858
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

17 Inventories 17 78
Inventories in the consolidated balance sheet comprise: REEEABRAZFERRE
The Group
rEH

2011 2010
—2——F i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Merchandise RUEY Sh 14,556 7,308

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BREAI 2 FESEITNAT :

expense is as follows:
The Group
rEH

2011 2010
—2——F s
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEZERAE 524,408 378,255
Write down of inventories FEMUR - 53
524,408 378,308
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18 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables JEWE 58
Less: allowance for doubtful — Ji - REEEE
debts (note 18(b)) (K17# 18(b))
Other receivables H b e Ug 3R TE
Deposits and prepayments e MIENFE

Included in the Group’s deposits and prepayments were
rental, utilities and other deposits amounting to approximately
HK$8,429,000 (2010: HK$5,146,000), which are expected
to be recovered after more than one year. All of the other
trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or

recognised as expenses within one year.

Included in the Group’s other receivables were advances
to slimming business partners amounting to approximately
HK$Nil (2010: HK$4,662,000), net of allowance for
doubtful debts of approximately HK$13,183,000 (2010:
HK$7,670,000) and advances to staff of approximately

HK$268,000 (2010: HK$238,000).

18 EWEZREAREMEWKE

The Group The Company
KEE AT

2010 2010
—B-FF —T-2F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET FET

43,647

(460)

AR EEz R REMREAES A
AR5 it I b 42 € %9 .8,429,0008 (=
T —TF 5,146,000/ 7T ) © FBEIR B
W—FrlE - FTEEMERE ZHIER
H At R IETEHAR — F I Bl Sk R A
FIsZ o

FTARE B 2 H fth FE W R IE A ) 4 B
EBRHBNZHRBBHTSEL(ZE—
T 1 4,662,000 7T )30 B R AR B
f# #913,183,000/% (= T — T & :
7,670,000 7)) : kM E I8N ZHIE
#7268,0007% jt(=— & — Z & : 238,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

18 Trade and other receivables (Continued) 18 FEWE ZFUER HMEWFIE®)
(a) Ageing analysis (@) ERERDHT
Ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance JEUE 5 FIE (FOBr R RS ) A &5
for doubtful debts) as of the balance sheet date is as BRZERRTOT ¢
follows:
The Group
REE
2011 2010
—2——F e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current BIEA 70,580 39,736
Less than 1 month past due mEL 1 E A - 3,320
1 to 2 months past due wEA1E 2@ A — 6
More than 2 months but less than mHEo=
12 months past due 1218 A - 125
Amounts past due panglik =t - 3,451
70,580 43,187
Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days from JEWE ZHIEREE BB 30E
the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s credit Q0HEIE - REEEEBIR Z#E—
policy are set out in note 29(a). HEFBH R FE29(a)
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18 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group
is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in
which case the impairment loss is written off against
trade receivables directly (see note 2(h)(i)).

The movements in the allowance for doubtful debt
during the year, including both specific and collective
loss components, are as follows:

18 EWESZFERHEMEWRRE®)

(b)

At 1 April REA—H
Impairment loss recognised R BEEE

(note 6(c)) (K1t 6(c))
Reversal of impairment loss (note 5) BB BEL (HiEs)
At 31 March W=A=+—H

At 31 March 2011, the Group’s trade receivables of
approximately HK$610,000 (2010: HK$460,000) were
individually determined to be impaired. The individually
impaired receivables related to invoices in dispute and
management assessed that the chance of recovery is
remote. Consequently, specific allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$610,000 (2010: HK$460,000) was
recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

W E S SRERE

FEUR B 5 5K I8 2 R E BB T A&
WIREH - BRIEAREEEMIREZ
RIEZ AR MBI - EZIBRT
REEEEE N EWRE 5 ZIEM
(REFE2(h)G) °

FR - RREE(BEER RARE
BED ) 2 EBINT

The Group
rEE

2010
—T-FF

HK$000
T&T

693

(233)

460

R—_E——FZA=+—R8 &%
B2 FEWE 5 FIEL610,0004 7T
—Z—Z4F 460,000/ T ) 1 &
RIEE R RE o % 8RR E FE UK
REDEBERZREZEEH MER
[ Tl U [l 2 AT B 1 AR K - it -
FER4FRIB#610,0008 T( — T —
T4 ¢ 460,0008 ) EFER o A&
B 3t 52 S A AR A (R o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

18 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

18 EREZFEREMEWFEEZ)

(c)

Neither past due nor impaired N 48 260 HA X% N JROR(E
Less than 1 month past due ‘E DR 1{EA
1 to 2 months past due wHI1E 2@ A
More than 2 months but less than mEio=®

12 months past due 1218 A

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a
good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

I 5 R 2 FE W B 5 TR

The Group
AEE

2011 2010
—2——F i
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
70,580 39,736
— 3,320
— 6
— 125
- 3,451
70,580 43,187

I 4 380 B K 3 R 18 2 FE WA TS
HEAWEIPERCERZEFPA

B BB 3 R (B < 8RR T
ZERAEERBRIFERLEZ
BURFER REBELER &
REEERYEBEANEY - AHER
TREAT2EKE - wEREHR
ERARZEERIEHRERE -
7N 65 [ 3 4 A 5% A BRI A (TR
o e

4
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19 Amounts due from/to related parties 19 W FENBEEALFE

20

The Group
rEE
2010
—E-TF
HK$’000
FET
Amounts due from non-controlling FEU FEIR AR
interests RIE 14,154
Amounts due from related companies FEUE BE A FIFUR
(note) (K1) 2,324
16,478
Amount due to non-controlling interests FEATIEE IR M 2 R 887
Note: A director and a key management personnel of certain subsidiaries Wi —2ESER—EBETHBRARZEEER
has beneficial interest in each of the respective related company. ABREZEHEATMEERER -
The amounts due from or to related parties are unsecured, JEWSEN A THRIBRAEER - 28
interest free and repayable on demand. MR ERERE -
Bank loans 20 RITER
The bank loans at 31 March 2011 were repayable within RZE——F=RA=+—HZRITERA
one year, and secured by guarantees from a director and R—FRNEE TH-REFRAEES
properties owned by certain staff members of the Group. TEIAMESR 2 MEEER -
The bank loans at 31 March 2010 were repayable within RZZE—ZEF=A=+—HZRITERE
one year, and secured by guarantees from the Company, a R—FRNEE  WAAQR  —REE -
director, a non-controlling interest and a staff member of the —HIEEREZE —EAEEET C UK
Group; and properties owned by certain staff members of the REBEETELIABRE ZMFEIEEMR -
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

21 Trade and other payables 21 BENESREREMENSKIE
The Group The Company
rEE N
2011 2010 2011 2010

22

—B— - _—T-THF ZB—-—H _"T-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEIT FET FET
Trade creditors BITE SR 30,568 19,191 — —
Other payables and accrued — E-fb fE {5018 &
charges FEETE 19,279 10,059 1,049 1,076
49,847 29,250 1,049 1,076
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled Fr e E 5 5/8 K HAth fE < IR TR B S
within one year or are repayable on demand. R—FREERBREREE -
Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with AR B 55K & B M R FIB R FET
the following ageing analysis as of the balance sheet date: BOBRH - ERNGEER ZRERATHT ¢
The Group
KEH
2011 2010
—B2——F —ET-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Due within 1 month or on demand A1 E A Rk ZskiFEIHA 30,568 19,191
Amount due to a director 22 BN—RBEENE
The amount due to a director, Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirley, FENEESREME LT 2B AEEKRE . ¢
is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. BRERERERE -

¢
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23 Obligations under finance leases 23 MEHERE
At 31 March 2011, the Group had obligations under finance R-ZZE—&F=ZA=+—H A&EBEZ&
leases repayable as follows: BHEAEAEENT
The Group
AEE
2010
—_ZT-TF
Present
value of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
HIKFERT BIKFERT
e BE e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Within 1 year 1FER 791 805
Less: total future interest i RRFBRE
expenses FE (14)
Present value of lease HEREZ
obligations RE 791
At 31 March 2010, a corporate guarantee was given by RZZE—ZTF=ZA=+—8 —HE@EE
a related company, of which Mr. Cheung Ka Heng is a REl(REELEAERERR )R EHEER
shareholder, in respect of the finance lease facilities of & #92,300,000 7% 7T A — & B /&8 2~ B4R i
approximately HK$2,300,000 granted to a subsidiary. NAER o
24 Convertible notes 24 WRREE

On 5 November 2010 and 14 January 2011, the Company
issued 2% per annum convertible notes of principal amount of
HK$20,000,000 to Dr. Cheung Yuk Shan, Shirely, a director
of the Company, and 2% per annum convertible notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000 to two third
parties, respectively. The maturity dates of these convertible
notes are the second anniversary from the respective dates of
issue of the convertible notes. Interests are payable annually
in arrears.

RZE—ZEF+—ARBEERZ=ZZ—F
—A+MA - ARBDRBITACEA
20,000,000 % JT 2 F 7 &E 2% Al # R F 15
TR S + kA £ 84 20,000,000
BT ENE2% A MREBRTREE=
F7 o ZEMMRERE DB SR RET
ARREEWAFE R - 8T 3FH
RE A -
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24 Convertible notes (continued)

The holders of the convertible notes have the rights to
convert, on any business day from the respective dates of
issue of the convertible notes until 5 business days before
the maturity dates of the convertible notes, the whole or part
only in an integral multiple of HK$1,000,000 of the principal
amount of the convertible notes into ordinary shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.5. If the notes have
not been converted, they will be redeemed by the Company
on the respective maturity dates.

In respect of the convertible notes issued on 14 January
2011, part of the notes with principal amount of
HK$12,000,000 were converted into ordinary shares on 25
January 2011, with the remaining balance converted into
ordinary shares on 25 February 2011. Accordingly, a total of
40,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each was issued on
the conversions.

The convertible notes issued during the year have been split
as to the liability and equity components, as follows:

Principal amount of convertible notes issued during
the year

Issues costs

Equity component

Effective interest expense

R]RE

Conversion into ordinary shares

Liability component at 31 March 2011 R_E——

The equity component is presented as convertible notes
reserve within equity. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 5.41% per annum.

BB TTIIR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

24

BERFEAS
- IR

F=ZA=1+—

BB HmRMEE

AR R RE )

AMBREERAEABERITRRRESA
ZETHEEAREREIMAR AES
EHA - mEMEOLB T AL EHE
578 #8 /1,000, OOO/%TEZﬁ*M Bz
AMRERER/AR ° MR ARE
%@'W$QE%KA EZ@%E%@
AR -

RRZZT——F— A TOBE BT 2R
ZEMmME - 289 A% % A12,000,000 %
TZEBEER - T—F—A-_F+EHBK
BAELTRRK  BBHIR-_ZT——F A
“HRARBAEER - Eit - REIRE
%174 ££ 40,000,000 & & §L0.01 8 L 2
LA o

FRBIT 2 TRBEED S AR AR
# - FENT

The Group
and

the Company
AEER
AN
HK$’000
T

FRABTZARERELZ
NG 2
BITRAR

i dt )

40,000
(500)
(2,675)

36,825
583
(18,266)

==L 19,142

REHNEEEAZIRRERHE - &
BED ZERFEBEFE5.41% -

®
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25

Income tax in the balance sheet 25 EEEBRAZMEH
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated balance sheet (a) REGEEBBERANZEBBIE
represents: 5
The Group
TEE
2010
—E-FTF
HK$'000
FEr
PRC Enterprise Income Tax P EATSH
— Provision for the year (note 7(a)) — FREBE (M5 7(@) 1,480
— Provisional tax paid — BEHH (1,087)
393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

25 Income tax in the balance sheet (Continued) 25 EEEGBRAZMBB @)
(b) Deferred tax — the Group (b) EEFHIE — FEH
()  Deferred tax liabilities recognised: () BRABZELHIBARE :
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised RireEEBBERBR EETRIE
in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements BEBRNERNZEBHOT -

during the year are as follows:

Depreciation

in excess of
the related Other
depreciation temporary
allowances differences Total
wEELESE Hth
BITERE ERER e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET
Deferred tax arising from: DT EEMEL ZIEER
15 .
At 1 April 2009 RZEFTNFHA—H (13) 2,785 2,772
Charged to profit or loss =Rkl
(note 7(a)) (Wit 7(a) 274 334 608
At 31 March 2010 RZZT—TF
=A=+—H 261 3,119 3,380
At 1 April 2010 RZE—EFHA—H 261 3,119 3,380
Exchange adjustments ME o JE R 8 158 166
Charged to profit or loss EECEEN]S
(note 7(a)) (K1&t 7(a) (162) 601 439
At 31 March 2011 WZZT——F
—A=+—H 107 3,878 3,985
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25 Income tax in the balance sheet (Continued)

(b)

(i

(i)

(c)

Deferred tax — the Group (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised:

At 31 March 2011, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax liabilities relating to temporary differences
of approximately HK$9,649,000 (2010: HK$8,028,000).

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

At 31 March 2011, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax
losses of approximately HK$161,893,000 (2010:
HK$144,092,000) and deductible temporary differences
of approximately HK$1,359,000 (2010: HK$5,974,000)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits, against
which the assets can be utilised, will be available
in relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Of the total
tax losses, approximately HK$32,042,000 (2010:
HK$25,416,000) will expire within 5 years and the
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$129,851,000
(2010: HK$118,676,000) have no expiry date under the
current tax legislation.

Deferred tax — the Company

No deferred tax liabilities have been provided for in
these financial statements as the Company does
not have any significant temporary differences. The
Company has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HKS$Nil (2010: HK$1,429,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the
assets can be utilised. The tax losses do not expire
under current tax legislation.

25 BEERERAZAMEH®)

(b)

(i

(ii)

(c)

EERIE — AKE(E)

AEREERIAAIE -

R-_ZE——FZA=Z+—RH &%
[ 7 4% 5k T By A2 B4V 9,649,000 75 7T
—Z—T4F : 8,028,000 0 ) HER
BIERRIBAE -

AERELEHAEE -

R—_ZE—F=A=+—8 @R
EHBARERAZEEREETX
B RRERMBFABHE
E MASEBILEMRTHES
18 49161,893,000/8 T(Z T — &
1 144,092,000 7T ) & 7] H1 &
R = %8 491,359,0008 o(— &
— Z 4 : 5,974,000 T ) R IE
EHIBEEE - MEBBEES
#732,042,0008 TT(ZF — T F -
25,416,000 % 70 ) #7A 5 F A fE W -
i & T Bt 18 & 18 49 129,851,000 %8
T(=ZZF—Z4 : 118,676,000/ 7T )
BBRITH AL EERA ©

EEHIR — AAF

HARARRALEEAERERE
B MAERMBHRR P IELRLT
BIRBEEE - BN T KA EAR
KERRBNAHBEE - AR
A ER R R IBBBROTET(Z
T — T4 1,429,000 7T ) R IR
ERIBEE - HEABBRRBERTHR
ETERER
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26 Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (the
“Ordinance”). The scheme is administered by an independent
trustee.

Under the MPF Scheme, certain subsidiaries of the Group
and the eligible employees make monthly mandatory
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory contributions by each
party are subject to a maximum of HK$1,000 per month.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately upon the
completion of service in the relevant service period.

At 31 March 2011, certain employees of the Group had
completed the required number of years of service under
the Ordinance and are eligible for long service payments on
termination of their employment. The Group is only liable
to make such payments when the termination meets the
required circumstances specified in the Ordinance and the
employees’ entitlement is not covered by the aforesaid
provident fund. At 31 March 2011, the Group’s contributions
to the provident funds and the accrued interest thereon
exceeded the potential liabilities should the required
circumstances specified in the Ordinance be met.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC also participate in
defined contribution retirement schemes covering its full-
time PRC employees. The schemes are administered by the
relevant government authorities in the PRC. The Group and
the PRC employees are required to make contributions based
on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as
stipulated under the requirements in the PRC and the relevant
government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC.

BB TTIIR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

26 SFEMRRAKETE

AEBERBEERIERTESAEI D
REEBEMIED (% 1I7%1§|H JRDVEEERE
BRzZEERIANMEAEFEI([RE
EETE)) - aJr%\JEE?%Exa%/\EIE °

RiERTESAHE AEEETHEBRARR
BEREBREBIIEAEES A ERIIAE
THAEZEBREBBALZ5% M 8I1E
hftR e 8T ZRFMEERRERREA
1,000 8 7T ° [R5 8 2 HRR A B AR
T EARE R SE A IR 15 05 BN Iy 57 88 o

R-T——F=ZA=1+—H AKEET
BEEZKRZGHRT 2 RERBFD -
YAEBERRBREL LR EHESEMRS

& AEBEEAERIETAZIEMEEZ
ERTHAERNR  MEBRAIGZER
WAR B HEEERE R_F——F=
A=1t—8  AEERHESIELZ X
KERFH B BERRNT A %IEPEEZ
BRAETEBIE -

REERPEZHBARIIBETRBEZR
EELEREHRFENRTE - ZZFTEH
FPRERRTHESIE - AEE LT EE
= &$lﬁEWJEZL% AR R 2
S EL AR BEER - i AR B8 AT 4 A
7¥k?f‘$’§l¢ll3ﬁ}f AZERAAR
HiERINMEB ZRIKEFIEME -

B m

®
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27 Equity-settled share-based transactions

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 4 November 2003. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company
to grant options to eligible participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries. Eligible participants
of the Share Option Scheme include full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers (including executive, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries and any
suppliers, consultants, agents or advisers who, in the sole
opinion of the Board, have contributed to the Company and/
or such subsidiaries.

Share options are granted to the eligible participants at
consideration of HK$1. Each option gives the holder the
right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company.
The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Board as its absolute discretion, save that
no option may be exercised more than five years after it has
been granted. No option may be granted more than 10 years
after the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option plans of the Company at any time shall not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option plans of the
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month period
up to the date of grant in excess of 1% of the number
of shares in issue as at the date of grant, are subject to
the Company issuing a circular and the approval from the
Company’s shareholders in a general meeting.

27 EEXNZRHORS

ARFAR-_ZBE=F+—ANBKRM—IE
MR AR AT B (RS IRERT 2 ) - AR RERT
EEEANAMAERZEAERTHERK
o ERREEARDR R KEAMFN B
NaltERERSETE T R 2 BB o = -
BRAENECABRBEEREARAR
SEEEAMBARZ 2B ERES
THRABHSMEE (BERT - T
EERBUNTESE)  URKEELH
URBHART R LR EWBAREL
BE e - B - RIEARIEER
BERZAL -

BREDEZRE1IBELIRTEERSH
% BIEBRES TRHA AR RE—
AR BB - BREZITERSHE
EZERERTE  EBRERRLBRRSF
BAEITHE - BBARE SI1LER BT
R TFRIER L BARE

REBBEEAE S RARBERE M ERE
BB R M ERTTEZ A RETERE
PRI TER AR TT 2R RS EE
TEBBETFEEITRDZ30% -

B BT MARRRE R 8 R A2 RIE
AEMBREFS NS AER2EAR
HERE(BRDITE - SRR
02 FE e ) BITER AT RE BT 2 IRt 48
2 WREBEEG A BT+ = A
BMHEARH AR RTROBEZ1%
AR X B 78 BE b B 3 oK 30 BRAS AR 2 B A
RRBRERAE L& -
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27 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

The exercise price for a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (which
shall be payable upon exercise of the option) shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine,
save that such price will not be less than the highest of (i)
the official closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a
share.

(@) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed

BB TTIIR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

27 BaXfzROEXRSZ#)

RB AR BIR h 2 (TR e BB A
HRBRO 2 TEE(RETEBRER
BNEHEFTSERRE  EXERT
BERORONEEBH(LAREEXE)
R P A ¥R AR 2 IEAMTE ¢ (i) BX
B L B H AT RE S R AR
B KPRz FHYHE - R (i) By |
BARSERE) -

(@) RFRFEZERHGERE G

during the year are as follows: ~
Number of Contractual
instruments life of options
BREZ
IHA#®A BREH
Options granted to Directors: BTEE 2 BRE
— on 10 September 2004 — RZEZTENFNATH 646,248 9.2 years F
— on 2 March 2011 —RZE—F=H=H 2,000,000 5.0 years F
2,646,248
Options granted to employees: BT EE ZHERE
— on 20 May 2005 - RZEERFRA=-1+H 51,700 5.0 years %
— on 6 September 2005 — RZEZTRFNARA 833,014 5.0 years 4F
— on 2 March 2011 —RWZE——F=HF=H 11,610,000 5.0 years 4
12,494,714
Total share options BB AR B 15,140,962

The numbers of outstanding options and their exercise
prices have been adjusted in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme for the ten-to-one share
consolidation which took place on 2 November 2010
(see note 28(c)(i)) and the rights issue on 3 December
2010 (see note 28 (c)(iii).

BARITHEERESE RETEED
BIEERE S ZGH - R =T
—EE+—-A-AETZTRAH
Bz & o (R EE28(c)(i)
ER-_ZE-—TF+_A=RETZ
AR (LB 5E 28(0)(iii)) 1E L % -

®
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27 Equity-settled share-based transactions

27 RS zBRORS®)

(Continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise prices of by HERESHBLNEFEHITEEDN
share options are as follows: T
2010
—E-FF
Weighted
average
exercise Number
price of options
IniEF 15 BB AE
1108 8
HK$
BT

Outstanding at the
beginning of the year

Expired during the year

Granted during the year

Outstanding at the end
of the year

Exercisable at the end of
the year

The numbers of options and the weighted average
exercise prices have been retrospectively adjusted for
both years for the ten-to-one share consolidation which
took place on 2 November 2010 (see note 28(c)(ii)) and
the rights issue on 3 December 2010 (see note 28(c)(iii)).

The options outstanding at 31 March 2011 had an
exercise price in the range of HK$0.6600 to HK$7.9226
(2010: HK$7.5388 to HK$8.2608) and a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 4.82 years (2010:

1.76 years).

RE W ARITIE

RERER
RERKRH

R H RITIE

RER AT

7.7333 1,595,587
7.9226 (64,625)

7.7252 1,530,962

7.7252 1,530,962

W B E 2 B g B R hnsE g
TEEERR - E—TFE+—A=
HETZTREH R —RZBRNE
PR M sE28(0)() R =T —F
F+ZA=-HETZHRBRREKE
28(c)(ii) ) YELE B BT EE -

R_E——F=fA=+—HMHETT
{5 BB AR ¥ 2 17 (2 {8 /> F0.6600 7%
TLE7.92268 (=T — T F:
7.5388 8 L £8.2608 %8 7T ) © hiiE
FHRBRENFHRRIELF(ZF
—ZF 1 1.76%F) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt
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27 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(c)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair
value of share options granted. The estimate of the
fair value of the share options granted is measured
based on a Black Scholes model. The contractual life
of the share option is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the
Black Scholes model.

Fair value of share options and assumptions:

BB TTIIR)

27 BaXfzROEXRSZ#)

10 September
2004
—ETMmEF
NATH
Fair value at measurement  REfERHY
date ~YVE HK$0.142 7T
Share price B ER HK$0.600 757t
Exercise price 116P (& HK$0.512 /7T
Expected volatility BHKE
(expressed as weighted (AEEER
average volatility used AERF 2 g
in the modeling under TR EIIR)
Black Scholes model) 55.79%
Option life (expressed ERETS
as weighted average (A2EHERN
volatility used in the AR 2 i
modelling under Black TR IESR)
Scholes model) 9.2 years F
Expected dividends L) 3.85%
Risk-free interest rate B I 2.30%

(c) BREAFERRBR
FERE 2EREDWERSE 2 A
FED2EAREERE 2 A TE
e IREERE A TFEMET
REHENEL G - BREZS
HNERBZEN 2 BASE - 25
RAEBEHREITHETER -
BEREATERRRE
Date of grant & B
20 May 6 September 3 March
2005 2005 2011
—ZTRE “ETREF —E2—-F
FAZTH NLANH =R=H
HK$0.157 T HK$0.127 T HK$0.582 ;& it
HK$0.510 7T HK$0.480 & T HK$0.660 ;& it
HK$0.534 7T HK$0.487 T HK$0.660 ;& it
58.41% 53.16% 137.59%
5.0 years & 5.0 years & 5.0 years
3.73% 3.96% Nil &
2.50% 2.50% 1.83%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining
life of the share options), adjusted for any expected
changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

There were no market conditions associated with the
share option grants.

FEETIRIE JYAR {58 R 8 (A BB A
Z I RGERGE) - BIRE
RNFE R PR RO I8 2 R TR &
BFHAE - BRI ERBERE
AE TR ARRZE Y
NHERBABRNEATE -

I EAR W B B B 2 TS IR -

®
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends

(a)

28 EX - REERRE

Movements in components of equity (a) HEZBHIZEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing NEBGEARGRILD 2 FHFE
balances of each component of the Group’s REHGZHEENGARRETR
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated A o AN TERIEZ IR A F ) E
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes FRZEBBFFEHOT -
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
The Company ¥/ AY=T |
Capital  Share-based  Convertible
Share Share reduction payment notes  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
R ROEE EXHERE ROATEG TARZERE | REE  RRAE
Note HK$'000 HKS:000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$:000
it FAT T A7 FAT T A7 FAT
At 1 April 2009 R-ESNEMA-A 9,599 90,926 - 3315 - (48,876) 54,964
Changes in equity for 2010: —E-EE 2 BHEH
Issues of shares kb 28(c)(ii 49,914 1920 - - - - 51,83
Share ssug expenses GRS 28(c)i - (2220) - - - - (2220)
Cancellation of share THERE
options - - - (142) - 142 -
Loss and tota EREERZAEALE
comprehensive l0ss
for the year - - - - - (50,374) (50,374)
At 31 March 2010 H-%8-%%
ZR=t-H 59,513 90,626 - 3,173 - 99,108) 54,204
At 1 April 2010 R-2-F£MA-H 59,513 90,626 - 3,173 - (99,108) 54,204
Changesinequityfor ~ =Z--f
211; ERRE !
Capital reduction Bl 28(0)fi 59,215) - 59215 - - - -
Transfer to set off SREEETHE
accumulated losseson -~ Z3EE
capital reduction - - (59,215) - - 59,215 -
Issues of shares BRh 28(c)i 1,785 51776 - - - - 53,561
Share Issue expenses OET5 28(c)(i) - (1,556) - - - - (1,556)
Equity-settled share-based  BELERHTHRS
transactions - - - 7921 - - 7921
Cancellation of share options #EjE - - - (1,757) - 1757 -
Issues of convertible notes~ ET T ARER x - - - - 2675 - 2675
Conversion of convertible S EATARZEARL
notes into shares 24 400 19,226 - - (1,360) - 18,266
Loss and total EREERZAEALE
comprehensive l0ss
for the year - - - - - 66,781) (66,781)
At 31 March 2011 H-%--%
Zf=t-A 2,483 160,072 - 9,337 1315 (104,917) 68,290
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued) 28 EX - RERRE (&
(b) Dividend (b) BE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a EEVITERERNEHE-_ZE—F
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: A=+ —HLEFEZRE(ZE—
HK$NIil). TETET) °
(c) Share capital (c) K=&
(i)  Authorised and issued share capital () ZEREBRITRE
2011 2010
—2—-F %5
Number of Number of
shares shares
RAEHE P!
Note ’000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$000
HiF T FET Fiz FET
Authorised: EE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 & X (E0.01& 7T

(2010: HK$0.20) each (ZZE—TF
0.20#7T) 2
TiER 28(c)(i) = 1,000,000 10,000 500,000 100,000
Ordinary shares, issued EER BREOR
and fully paid: MR
At 1 April REA—H 297,563 59,513 959,880 9,599
Issues of shares BT AR 28(c)(iii) - — 4,991,370 49,914
297,563 59,513 5,951,250 59,513
Share consolidation B & Bt (267,807) —  (5,653,687) —
29,756 59,513 297,563 59,513
Capital reduction BARHIR 28(c)(ii) — (59,215) — —
29,756 298 297,563 59,5183
Issues of shares BT D 28(c)(iii) 178,538 1,785 - -
Conversion of convertible X AR % 2
notes into shares R H 24 40,000 400 — —
At 31 March R=A=+—H 248,294 2,483 297,563 59,513
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive EEREEABRKEBRTREIRZ
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled RE - WHEERERKRODRARF
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. ARegLE—F- fIBELT@EBRREA
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the BB EEZHRFHL

Company’s residual assets.
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(c)

Share capital (Continued)

28 BEX - HERBRE #)
B (42)

(c)

(i) Increase in authorised share capital, share (i) BMEERE  BROEHREXE
consolidation and capital reduction ot
By an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary HER_ZEZNLFNAR=Z+—H
general meeting on 31 August 2009, the Company’s BOozEEBRI A BB
authorised share capital was increased from TBABER ARaZEER
HK$15,000,000 divided into 1,500,000,000 ordinary K % @ 1 % %8 40 8,500,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each to HK$100,000,000 divided A& K m B0 T o2
into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each T @ fx-  #15,000,000% T
by creation of additional 8,500,000,000 ordinary shares (%% 1,500,000,000 A% &A% {6 0.01

of HK$0.01 each.

By an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting on 11 February 2010, every twenty
then issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each were consolidated into one new ordinary share of
HK$0.20 each. Following the share consolidation which
became effective on 12 February 2010, the Company’s
authorised share capital was HK$100,000,000 divided
into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each, of
which 297,562,500 ordinary shares were in issue and
fully paid.

7 7T 2 & AR ) 3 Hh & 100,000,000
7 7t.(% £ 10,000,000,000 f% & A%
B0.01 BT 2 EBR) -

HEN-_ZET-TE-_A+-HETZ
BERENRG LBEBY TEREH
B S +BREREENIBET
ZERBBITERRBETEBERS
HE—BREREE20EILZH
LTaEE R EHFR T —FF
ZATZHERE S KRB ZE
5 P& 7K /100,000,000 T7T(5 A
500,000,000 i & BX HE 1E 0.20 % T
2 &A% - H 297,562,500 A% &
BRABBITRBRE) -

By a special resolution passed at the extraordinary BRR—_T—ZETFNA+NHZE

general meeting on 18 August 2010, a capital RHENAE EBBZERRAZEE -

reorganisation of the Company was undertaken: RARHEITRAEA

—  every ten then issued ordinary shares of HK$0.20 - BETREFER20ETZ
each were consolidated into one new ordinary BRTEERESHA K
share of HK$2.00 each. Following the share FR200B T2 ERBE -

consolidation which became effective on 2
November 2010, the Company’s authorised
share capital was HK$100,000,000 divided into
50,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$2.00 each, of
which 29,756,250 ordinary shares were in issued

and fully paid.

BOhaHR -_E—ZF+—A
ZHEMIE  ARRZETER
X 100,000,000/ 7T © 5 &
50,000,000 % & A% 2.007% T
2 EBRK - HH29,756,250
BEBWABEHITRER
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(c)
(ii)

(iii)

Share capital (Continued)

Increase in authorised share capital, share
consolidation and capital reduction (Continued)

— upon the share consolidation becoming effective
on 2 November 2010, the issued share capital of
the Company was reduced from HK$59,513,000
to HK$298,000 by the cancellation of HK$1.99
paid-up capital per each share and the entire
amount of the authorised but unissued share
capital was cancelled.

— following the capital reduction, the Company’s
authorised share capital was increased to
HK$10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.

Issues of shares

On 23 September 2009, the Company issued
4,799,400,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
pursuant to the open offer made by the Company on 1
September 2009 at a subscription price of HK$0.01 per
share on the basis of five open offer shares for every
one share held by the qualifying shareholders on 31
August 2009. The net proceeds of HK$45,940,000 were
used for repayment of debts and as general working
capital of the Group.

On 11 January 2010, Biochem Investments Limited
(“Biochem”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
entered into a placing and subscription agreement with
a placing agent and the Company where 191,970,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the Company
were placed at a price of HK$0.02 per share, and
Biochem would subscribe 191,970,000 new shares in
the Company at the same price of HK$0.02 per share.
The proceeds from the subscription, net of the costs
and expenses borne by the Company in connection
to the placement arrangement, of approximately
HK$3,674,000 were used as general working capital
of the Group. The subscription was completed on 25
January 2010.

BB TTIIR)

28 BEXR - HERKRE #)

(c)
(i)

(iii)

&GP

BIEERE - RGP EHREXH
HE)

- BHEHR-_ZE—ZFE+—A
ZTHEBE  AREZBEET
RAE BT HEETR1.99% T
2 82 |19 B\ 59,513,000%
JC I 2= 298,000 7T K&
B AT RREITHRA -

—  EBXEIRE  AREZEAER
7N 1% % 10,000,000 7T © &
/& 1,000,000,000 i% & % 0.01
BT BB -

BITRG

RZEZAFALAZFT=B " &R
RAIREER-_ZTZTAFENLA—H
REZAREE  UAEKEKRER
—EZEAFENA=+—HBHEEE
— BB EE AR AREERG
ZEE HMEBROOIBILZRE
{8 % 174,799,400,000 f% & I & &
001 BT zEBI - FTSRIEFEE
45,940,000 ST BIEEBEBIENU K
EEREBZ —REEED -

RZE—ZF—A+—H ' AQ7F
7 F 2 & ®Biochem Investments
Limited ([ Biochem ) 2 fid & X 32 &
RNARFTMBCE MRE R - Bt
191,970,000 i & f% 0.01 BT 2 AN A
AERBRE R E0.02B T2 BER
B & - 1 Biochem 7% 1% & §20.02 7
JC.2 FARB % RE% 191,970,000 B A
NEVFRR D - REZ A5 3EGOR
NN TGS T BERIE 2 RN N B 52
%) #/53,674,00078 7T - FA1EA %
Bz —REEES  RBEN_ZT—F
F—A-t+HHERK

®
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(c)

(iii)

(d)

(i)

Share capital (Continued)
Issues of shares (Continued)

On 3 December 2010, the Company issued
178,537,500 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each pursuant
to the rights issue approved on 18 August 2010 at a
subscription price of HK$0.30 per share on the basis
of six rights shares for every one share held by the
qualifying shareholders on 11 November 2010. The net
proceeds of HK$52,005,000 were used for expanding
the Group’s existing operations in the PRC and as
general working capital of the Group.

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share premium reserve

Under the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands
where a company issues shares at a premium, whether
for cash or otherwise, a sum equal to the aggregate
amount of the value of the premiums on their shares
shall be transferred to share premium account. The
application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to shareholders
of the Company out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or the dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be in a position to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

28 EXR - EERKRE®)

(c)

A (48)

(iii) BTG (E)

(d)

()

RZZE—ZFE+_A=H K27
BER-_ZE—ZFN\A+ B
ZHBRIZREESROIE T -
NEERBRRR=_FT—TF+—A
T—BERE —RRHOEZESIRHE
A% A% 19 2 B 28 17178,537,500 %
FRRO0.01 BTz AR - TS KIE
% #52,005,000 8 7T E A {ERE A
SERPRECBEEEBRAERE
Bz —REEED -

BEEEREN

KR EERE

RERESBSARE LB TH
AR & EelHE s EHETRND
YA -FRARN 2 G EEER
BAE 2 REBABRDEER - 8
A EERIASHERRER

"SEE o

BRIFEREZ D RS AR
ARRARAREBEEHBRETER
A EREY  SATEARD
HERTRAARBBRRA IR
BB e

Annual Report 2010/11 4 4
SAU SAN TONG HOLDINGS LIMITED 15 & % 45 i B A 5]

®



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(d)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between
the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by the
Company and the aggregate of the share capital and
share premium of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company through exchange of shares under a group
reorganisation scheme on 4 November 2003. Further
details are set out in the Company’s prospectus dated
10 November 20083.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with accounting policy set out in
note 2(s).

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the fair
value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised
share options granted to the eligible participants of
the Share Option Scheme recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based
payments in note 2(0)(ii).

Convertible notes reserve

The convertible notes reserve represents the amount
allocated to the unexercised equity component of the
convertible notes issued by the Company recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
convertible notes in note 2(k).

BB TTIIR)

28 BEXR - HERKRE #)

(d)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

REEERENE)
B R

EHRFEEEARRBETEBRZE
BEARFRBER-_ZT=F1+—
RAMBZ SESAEFREE IR
9 B B A B A RIIR AR KR AR 10 )4 (B
BEZEZR E-THBHRAR
AR —TT=F+—-—ATHEREZ
ARER -

EZfE

EXFEEREMAEREBINETZ
MBHRRAMEEZELZR - #E
TyRB R 2(s) P8 2 & AT R BR
# -

RO #E

P A <% 3K 15 48 8 AR 18 B 5 2(0) (i) Bt
B tn 4 SRR 2 & 5T BUR P AR IR
TRREFESER2EE ZER
SHALFTARITEBAEZRE 2 AFE

R EE#E

AR IR R R IR M R 2(k) T 42
BEERAZSTBRER AR
BT BMREE D KT RITE
B c 28 -
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(vi) PRC statutory surplus reserve

(e)

Pursuant to the laws and regulations governing the
PRC enterprises, a PRC subsidiary of the Group, which
is a sino-foreign joint-venture enterprise, is required to
allocate at least 10% of its after-tax profit but before
dividend distribution to the general reserve until the
reserve has reached 50% of their registered capital.
The general reserve can only be used, upon approval
by the relevant authority, to offset accumulated losses
or increase capital. The appropriation for the year
amounted to HK$960,000 (2010: HK$Nil).

The enterprise expansion fund can only be used
to increase capital upon approval by the relevant
authority. Appropriation to enterprise expansion fund is
at the discretion of the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries. There was no appropriation during the year
(2010: HKS$NIl).

The staff welfare and bonus fund can only be used
for the welfare of the PRC subsidiaries’ employees.
Appropriation to the staff welfare and bonus fund is
at the discretion of the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries. For Hong Kong reporting purposes,
this appropriation is charged to profit and loss and
included in other payables and accrued charges in the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2011, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$55,155,000 (2010:
HK$Nill).

28 EXR - EERKRE®)

(d)

(vi)

(e)

REMERBH(E)
o B % E B B 1E 1

RIREEE R B ZEF RER
AEB—HPEMEBRFEF I
SEPE)EDEARMEBERS
AR BRI BT E D10%E — MR
H BEEREEHLTMRER0%
RlE —MRFEEATREHEER
HERRBERE R EE LI M
&R F 4 5 B #960,0007% T
ZE-TFFTER) -

TEERESENRBEERILE
BAFERMER - DEELEER
A2 NRTPENBARERTEZH
BRIEL - FRALBOR(ZFT—F
FTBT) o

BTRMNkERESENTBEFE
MEARZEERM NEEET
BN MEBES HIZPEME QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #&

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group’s primarily objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes judgements to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose
the Group defines adjusted net debt as total debt (which
includes bank loans, trade payables, other payables
and accrued charges, amount due to a related party,
amounts due to subsidiaries, obligations under finance
leases and convertible notes) less cash and cash
equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all components
of equity and amount due to a director.

BB TTIIR)

B S ER AR M

28 EXR - EERKRE#®)

U

EXEE

AEBEREAZTIERRARE
AEBBEKE RS WEHA
HEZBEEREREEEN HEE
BKFARTE 2K - RIZRBEKA
RERE  SERREHORESE
MR E PRI

AEEERNERRS RNEEELE
$ - MERSRREHRBERT

EHEZRREEKTFRARRE
$#ﬂ%%xﬂ £ R EAZBERE
T YRABREERREEHHER
ZRIEVE FIE -

AREBEZEHEEHFRHUEANLL
RERHEEARE - FUME - A
SEATRHAREHFEREHAE

i

BBRERTENR  BNESFA
HpEARAREER BN —

%%&At%ﬁ~ﬁﬁmﬁﬁi%

C REHEAERARERE)H
ﬁi&ﬁivﬁ%°ﬁﬁ%ﬁ$@
EREREHY REN—REEK
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28 Capital, reserves and dividends (Continued)

U]

Capital management (Continued)

28

During 2011, the Group’s strategy was to maintain an
adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at around 10%. In
order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the Group may
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise
new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 March 2011

and 2010 was as follows:

Current liabilities:

Bank loans

Trade payables

Other payables and accrued charges

Amounts due to jointly controlled
entities

Amounts due to related parties

Obligations under finance leases

Non-current liability:
Convertible notes

Total debt
Less: Cash and cash equivalents
Adjusted net debt

Total equity
Amount due to a director

Adjusted capital

Adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio

BR - - @BERRE#)
) BAEEH)

R-T——F AKEZRBERHE
FREABEBFREEALETY
10% > RBFRABLE  KNEH
AETHRD  ARREEEAS
BEEHEBRENLEEERE -

R-B——ER_F-—FTF=R
S+ -RZERRABERFEYER
Hexn s

The Group
REE

2010
—E—ZF
HK$’000
FET

mEaE
IRITER 13,626
B E S HE 19,191
HEMEMRERETER 10,059

FES RIS E R

B 2,890
FEREEA TFIE 887
& B e 791
47,444

ERBEE
AR AR -
B4R 47,444
o REeERBEEEY (39,553)
KRARBKFE 7,891
4R 75,778
B —REEHE 14,306
BRABER 90,084
RARBK FEHERL R 9%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

RARHEATAM B AR BEE
SPONRIEIZ BEARRE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (kS8 7ERASN » A TTIIR)

29 Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The
Group’s exposure to risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these
risks are described below.

(@) Credit risk and concentration risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties
and cash and cash equivalents. The maximum exposure
to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated balance sheet.

In respect of trade receivables, management has a
credit policy in place and the exposure to the credit
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
to 90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers. As such,
management considers the aggregate risks arising from
the possibility of credit losses are limited and to be
acceptable.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk
but to a lesser extent. At the balance sheet date, the
Group had a certain concentration of credit risk as 14%
(2010: 8%) and 32% (2010: 25%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively. Management does
not expect any significant losses from trade debtors
that have not been provided for other than impairment
loss on bad and doubtful debt as set out in note 18(b).

29 ®@MIT A

AEBEZIEXBBREELEES  RBE

i

MERINERR o AEBEZ E R AdE

BEAEERNERZ SRR 2 € RER
BRI MABPIE T

(a)

FERRRETRER

rEBZEERBREZERBEKE
SR TE R E AL FEUREIE - U E
ATHEURRERBSEEY -
HEERB B REEAS SR
BENGAEEABRAZEARE -

HEKRBEZREMS  EEER
FERE ITHEBEEZEFEERR
AIERE c eHAEERKBEE TS
B EERBsRERPHETENEERT
- ZETHERREFPZATE
N RIBITRHREESN - W=E
EREFPETERNURERT PR
E%ﬂ%%ﬁ@Zﬁﬂ°E%%%
RIENFEZABHRFT30E290H A
WWOf&ﬁa*$%lm%m%
PEREGEFRR At - ERERAB
EEBBEAEEELZEREES
@’Hﬂka°

AEEZEERBEIERIETER
AR TE BREEMEL
TERERE R RREEE R I
BRE WEER) - REEH -
ARERE ZHBEBET14% (=
T—TF:8%) RN (ZFT—F
F:25%) D RERAEEZEAE
PRAREF HMAEBEBEETE
EREFRER o BRI 18(b) BTk
2 RIBRBEREN  EEBELT
EHRBEEEVEZSBERGHET
AEKEE -
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29 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk and concentration risk (Continued)

The Group’s other receivables at 31 March 2011
comprise mainly advances to business partners,
advances to staff, trade deposits, prepayment for
acquisition of a trademark amounting to approximately
HK$6,211,000 (2010: HK$7,800,000). Should the
counter parties default in settling the payments and/
or providing services, the Group may suffer financial
losses. The Directors consider that these amounts are
fully recoverable.

In respect of the amounts due from related parties at 31
March 2011 amounting to approximately HK$9,524,000
(2010: HK$16,478,000), the Group may suffer financial
losses if the related parties default in settling the
payments. However, the Directors consider that these
amounts are fully recoverable.

Substantially all the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
are deposited in financial institutions in Hong Kong and
the PRC. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited as the
majority of counterparties are financial institutions with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies and stated-controlled financial institutions with
good reputations.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 18.

20 €I AE#)

(a)

FERBRERRBR(E)

RZE——F=A=+—H AL
Bz EtEYRIEE B BRERER
BHBMNZHE  AEITRMZR
HBZEE  WERBBRZEMNRK
H A #£6,211,0008 T(ZE — =
% :7,800,000/87T) ° WX HF
FHRZNRIAR, AR R
% AIASEAERTMBER -
EERAZSFE2HKME -

BN —_E——F=ZA=1+—HBZE
I B8 38 A 4 5 TH 499,524,000 7 7T
(== —Z % : 16,478,000/ 7T )
mE - Wk ErEA TR IR
B AIAREEJRESIVBER -
A BEERBZERBEAT2EK
|§| o

AEBEBRBORERREEFEY
BIERREERPEMBGEE - B
RREBARZXZEFHREBRKREE
ARRBRTSEENR U B
B KRB E R A 2 B 5T 5 3 A5
B BRDESZEERBRER -

ERASBEREWESFIAEEZ
EERR 2 — T EREHNH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

29 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the Company’s Board when
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group’s
and the Company’s financial liabilities which are based
on the contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments, computed using contractual rates or,
if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet
date) and the earliest date the Group and the Company
can be required to pay:

BB TTIIR)

29 e®WM I A

(b)

RBESERE

AEEBTEMNGSEEBRERR
GeHeEE  BRERcBHKEH
REMIZERARNEHRS T
2 HEEEBBE THEEREKYF
RAKARREZTSHE - NEHE
ZHRR/EHERRITREAHRD
BeH R NEREEFKEHRSE
EHELEHTESRMBEARRE
BE NENEEMEEMRDE

ANEE TR
Em= ©

TRFLASEERARREBRAE
REEEZHBTEOEHAE - ik
BHARMRASRE(BREFEARH
MEH(HFE) BN EER 2]/IT
MEFAEZMBNR) RAEE LA
RAAIBEAN N2 &P AMER -
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29 Financial instruments (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(i)  The Group

Bank loans RIEH
Trade payables EE558
Other payables and accrued ~ EHERZER
charges [EitER
Amount due to  director EN-2E2578
Amounts due 1o jointly JEF R
controlled entities RS
Amounts due to related EREEAT
parties TR
Obligations under finance leases B AT e
Convertinle notes TAREE

29 @I E®)

(b) REBESEM(E)

(i) FEH
2010
ZE-%f
Total Within
contractual 1 year
Carrying  undiscounted oron

amount  cash flow demand
AERBEE  1EM%

BAE REANEE EEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Az AT Az

13626 (13628  (13,626)
19191 (19191 (19,191)

1005 (10059 (10,059
14306 (14308 (14,306)

2,890 RS (289

887 (687) (687)
791 (191) (191)

61750 (1750 (61750
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS "E"

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ($& 3 & 85 - 5 AB TR )

29 Financial instruments (Continued) 29 €T H#)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FEBESERE)
(i) The Company (i) FERE
2010
3%
Total Within
contractual 1 year
Carrying  undiscounted oron
amount  cash flow demand
N 1R
FHE REsnes EEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT T
Other payables and accrued ~~ EHERFER
charges B ER 1,076 (1,076) (1,076)
Amount due to a director EN-2E25% 4,489 (14,489) (14,489)
Amounts due to subsicleries  ERHEAFHE 3540 (3,540) 3,540)
Convertible notes ERZE - - -
19105 (19,108) (19,105
(c) Interest rate risk (c) F=EEk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank AREZFRRARERES BIRIT

deposits, bank loans and obligations under finance

—= E e
leases. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the ERERDH<

Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value

T Ry ,\/TA&F#ﬂﬁ%EE%#

AEBAZEESR

ENERREAFEMNERR A

EEVEFASRITE T EEHF

interest rate risk respectively. The Group does not use
financial derivatives to hedge against the interest rate
risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in (i) below.

Kb NEBERERE
REBEHNTX()

BE 5%

8 m 71N

Z 7

®
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29 Financial instruments (Continued) 20 €I AE#)

(c)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FEREE)

Interest rate profile (i) FFEEE

TRALMAEEREEAFFFR
(ANSRIT RN S ERAafE) 2 F

The following table details the interest rate profile of the
Group’s net deposits (being bank deposits less interest-

bearing financial liabilities) at the balance sheet date.
The Group
rEHE
2010
—E-TF
Effective
interest
rate
BEEFI=
% HK$'000
FET
Variable rate deposits: ¥ B1FK ¢
Bank deposits and cash  $R1TFER R IRTT
at bank Be 0.36% 22,935
Fixed rate borrowings:  EEEE :
Bank loans, secured RITER -
BEA 5.10% (13,626)
Obligations under BEHEE
finance leases AHE 4.72% (791)
Convertible notes Bl E S N/A “I~iE A —
Total net (borrowings)/  (fE8&) /7%
deposits FBEE 8,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

29 Financial instruments (Continueq)

(c)

(ii)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2011, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately HK$17,000 (2010: decrease/
increase the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately HK$85,000). Other
components of equity would not be affected (2010:
HK$NIl) by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the balance sheet date and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date. The 100 basis
point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet
date. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2010.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant currency risk
as most sales, income, purchases and expenses are
denominated in the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate.

Fair values
All financial instruments are carried at amounts not

materially different from their fair values at 31 March
2011 and 2010.

BB TTIIR)

BB HmRMEE

29 €@ITHE%®)

(c)

(ii)

(d)

(e)

F=ER(E)
HBEED T

R-—ZT——F=ZA=+—8 " &t
FEEBEATEHI100EEE -
BRFELMEHTE B
B AREB 2 BRIEEE R ZFE
BH17,0008TT(ZE—ZTF :
LOEMAEB L GREBEEEREER

ﬁiﬂ§ﬁ85omﬁ%ﬁ) Efth #E a
SETREHER DY S (T
7£E' 3/%%)

Ll BERES T HBRRANEESH D
REERZEERERAREZRRF

"7 IETES R T B 2 F =R E M &
EEmMET - 100X E
BB N —F4 HRI BRI AR ] g
Aﬂﬁ@Zi% —E-EFNE
MREXEEITON -

S [ b
HRAKRIBIHEE A - BEKRA
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Eﬁo
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29 Financial instruments (Continued)

U]

Estimation of fair values

The following summarises the major methods and
assumptions used in estimating the fair values of
financial instruments.

20 €I AE#)

(f)

DFEME

TR 2 T AR FERE
Rz EBIERRR -

(i) Interest-bearing finance lease liabilities () FEBEHEARE
The fair value is estimated as the present value of future AEEHFALZELERITAZE
cash flows, discounted at current market interest rates TMEFEMBBEZARRERER
for similar financial instruments. (E

(i) Financial guarantees (i) BIBEER
The fair value of financial guarantees issued is EEHMBER2AFEDSZE
determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s LR 2 AR ZUE 2 B A (s
length transaction for similar services, when such MISBEBERETE  B2EBEH
information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by o A RABERAEEBERIER
reference to interest rate differentials, by comparing the TRz ERAE  BERAL
actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee EVERIE R T EWE 2 G5t F R e
is made available with the estimated rates that lenders B (nee B B EREL AT S
would have charged, had the guarantees not been i) e
available, where reliable estimates of such information
can be made.

30 Commitments 30 &g

(@)

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2011 not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements are
as follows:

(a)

R-ZE——F=ZA=+—HFEM
RN E T RERIEE 2 EARRE
mr o

The Group
rEE
2010
—E-FTF
HK$’000
FET
Authorised and contracted for ERERETLD

— capital injection into a jointly — M—EEEEEE
controlled entity FEABR 6,000

— capital injection into a subsidiary — A—ERBAREA
=N 568

— acquisition of property, plant and — WIEE - R

equipment By 1,672
8,240
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

BB TTIIR)

30 Commitments (Continued)

(0)

At 31 March 2011, the total future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

payable as follows:

Within 1 year

After 1 year but within
5 years

After 5 years

30 AiEE)

(o)

RZFE——F=ZA=t+—H TH
B ka2 ME AR REMESE
(N U

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
Properties Properties
and and
display display
locations  Equipment locations Equipment
MER MmE M
BRRUE R RRLE B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET TFET TFET
1FR 20,889 58 16,689 31
1B
54K 37,692 — 35,259 3
5F1& 5,093 - 10,376 -
63,674 58 62,324 34

The Group is the lessee in respect of certain properties,

display locations and items of equipment under

operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial

period of one to ten years, with an option to renew the

lease when all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments

are usually increased every two to three years to reflect

market rental. None of the leases includes contingent

rentals.

AEBERKEHRERTETYE
RAIENMREERBE ZEABEA - H
E-RONIRE—E+F AIRE
HERMAE GRS EHE - e
BEEMEZFEMN ARKRTS
He  #SMEREeERAES -

¢
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31

32

Contingent liabilities 31

At 31 March 2011, the Group and the Company had no
material contingent liabilities.

At 31 March 2010, the Company had issued a corporate
guarantee of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,033,000) to a bank in respect of banking facilities
granted to a subsidiary as 51% owned by the Group. None
of these facilities were utilised by that subsidiary at 31 March
2010.

Material related party transactions and 32
balances
(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s

Directors as disclosed in note 8 and the highest paid
employees as disclosed in note 9, is as follows:

Salaries, allowances and other benefits ¥4 - 3288 & H th g 7

Contributions to defined contribution R EHFGEIKR
retirement plan BEIGTS
Share-based payments B8t 5 5%

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note
6(b)).

HREE

RZE——F=A=+—H *EEKXK
AAMEEBRARARAME -

R-ZE—ZTFE=ZA=Z+—8  AA7
EREBET —RAESEEBS1% M E
RAZBITHER —BHBITHELAR
15,000,000 7T (18 & 7 4917,033,000
BILIZARAER RZE—ZFF= A
=+—8 ZMBRRCESHHATNEEH

EXBAEALRZ REER

() FEEBAEME

AEETEEEABZHE(RIEN
FEBEEN TARBAEEZR
AEMEIMBRBEEN TREHIE
BZFIB)WMT -

2010
—E-EF

HK$’000
FET

5,646

70

5,716

FoN@Es ATE TAA (R
B(b)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %4 B8 sk =Mzt

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

32 Material related party transactions and
balances (Continued)

(b)

Other related party transactions

In addition to the financing arrangements as mentioned
in notes 20, 23 and 24, the Group entered into the
following material related party transactions during the
year:

Sales of goods to a non-controlling M — & I e
interest HEEM

Sales of goods to a non-controlling interest were made
at similar terms as the Group grants to other customers.

Balances with related parties are disclosed in the
balance sheets and in notes 15, 16, 19 and 22.

BB TTIIR)

32

BERBEAIRZRESRE)

(b)

HtAEALRS

BBt sE20 ~ 28 24 Frit 2 B A &
BN REBRFRGEITIANE
AEBALTRS -

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
= R S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFET
3,676 8,497

A —RIEERESEHEER IR
SEETHEMES 2BEMERIEL -

HEABALTZEBRNEEREBERNL
ISR R M FE15 16~ 19 223

Ego
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33 Accounting estimates and judgements

The methods, estimates and judgements the directors used
in applying the Group’s accounting policies have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial position and operating
results. Some of the accounting policies require the Group
to apply estimates and judgements, on matters that are
inherently uncertain. The critical accounting judgements
in applying the Group’s accounting policies are described
below.

(@)

(b)

Depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charge for the property, plant and
equipment, after taking into account the estimated
residual value. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
It could change significantly as a result of technical
innovations and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

Impairments

In considering the impairment loss that may be required
for certain property, plant and equipment, investments
in subsidiaries, interests in jointly controlled entities and
goodwill, recoverable amount of the asset needs to be
determined. The recoverable amount is the greater of
the net selling price and the value in use. It is difficult to
precisely estimate selling price because quoted market
prices for these assets may not be readily available.
In determining the value in use, expected cash flows
generated by the asset are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant judgement relating to
items such as level of turnover and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is reasonable approximation
of recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
projections of items such as turnover and operating
costs.

33 EEHfEE R A

EERARNKESHBRBRAZAE
HET RABHAREE 2 BRI R EE
BRKNEATE - BOSTHRERAE
EHAYE FTEE2 BEEL G RA
B - ERAAEESTER 2 BRE A
ot o

(a) WE

AEBEEE[FFRGEERRETE
ME - W RREZ A AR F
HRHEBREER - lfhat oK
BRIz YE  BERERE
ERAIERFREELRIESL
A A8 s F S FREEKR
TERMRRZITHMELEAE
b o WA EBFEM DR LA F
H - AIEEEREMTEER &
HG M MO E AR E 2%
B XIFRREEE -

(b) RE

EEFEAREARE TWE - #EEK
B RHBRARZERE - RERE
FlEE  EEREEEL 2 RES
BE . AETEEAKEESE 7
KWEeEAFEERFEREENSE
2BREE - ARZREEZTSRE
RAATBERFENAS - B SR LA ERE (S AT
EEB-BrFREER  BEE4L
ZHEBESREMRREHBE A
HEEBKEREERAEREEE
BERERHE - NEEFER—1)
AHEERESCENEBEETRE S5
AENHSRE  BREAERATX
BERIEHGETREEEBRLEE
RAZIEE ERTEA -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& =& F£RE4) -

33 Accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairments (Continued)

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are
assessed and provided based on the directors’ regular
review of ageing analysis and evaluation of collectability.
A considerable level of judgement is exercised by the
directors when assessing the credit worthiness and past
collection history of each individual customer.

An increase or decrease in the above impairment loss
would affect the operating results in the year and in
future years.

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement
on the future tax treatment of certain transactions and
interpretation of tax rules. The Group carefully evaluates
tax implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such
transactions is reconsidered periodically to take into
account all changes in tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses not
yet used and temporary deduction differences. As
those deferred tax assets can only be recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future profit will be
available against which the unused tax credit can be
utilised, management’s judgement is required to assess
the probability of future taxable profits. Management’s
assessment is constantly reviewed and additional
deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the
deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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33 Accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Inventory provision

The Group performs regular reviews of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to aged
inventories analyses, projections of expected future
saleability of goods and management experience
and judgement. Based on this review, write-down of
inventories will be made when the carrying amounts of
inventories decline below their estimated net realisable
value. Due to changes in customers’ performance,
actual saleability of goods may be different from
estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in this estimation.

Share-based payments

The estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted to employees and other eligible participants
measured by professional valuers and the directors’
estimate based on the Black Scholes model with
modification to reflect the impact of vesting periods and
exercise patterns on the option value. The accuracy of
the above estimations could affect the amount of share-
based payments transactions recognised in profit or
loss.

34 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the

HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standard
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2011 and which have not been adopted in

the consolidated financial statements.
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34 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2011 (Continued)

Of these developments, the following relate to matters
that may be relevant to the Group’s operations and the
consolidated financial statements:

Revised HKAS 24, Related party disclosures
BB ERIFE 24 5% (KHEFT) - HEALRE

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
BB MELERNFIR ST A

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 except for the amendments to HKFRS 3

(Revised 2008), HKAS 1 and HKAS 28

—T-TERBUBHREEA A EF (BEMHRELNE IR (ZFTN\FEER])

FR G ERFE KL BB G ERF 28 3RS

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes
BB ERE1250(EETAR) - FIEH

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Disclosures
— transfer of financial assets

BB HRELAE7TREXR) - KE — SRHEESS

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14, Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement
ER (AR BREREZE®) - BREF 145 (EFIR)  BANREEEEK

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19, Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments
FE(BERMBREREZES) - RBF 195 URATAKHEESRAE

The Directors have confirmed that the Group is in the
process of making an assessment of what the impact of
these amendments, new standards and new interpretations is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that their adoption is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial
position.
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1 January 2013
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1 January 2011

as appropriate
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1 January 2012
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CORPORATE INFORMATION A ®& %

Head Office and Principal Place of
Business in Hong Kong

4th Floor

Sands Buliding
17 Hankow Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and Transfer
Office in the Cayman Islands

Bank of Bermuda (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 513GT

2nd Floor Strathvale House

North Church Street

George Town

Grand Cayman

British West Indies

Branch Share Registrar and
Transfer Office in Hong Kong

Tricor Standard Limited
26th Floor, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Banker

Nanyang Commercial Bank
Yaumatei Branch

309 Nathan Road

Kowloon

The Bank of East Asia Limited
One Peking Branch

Shop 202 & 203, L/F

One Peking

1 Peking Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Website
WWW.sausantong.com
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